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I am delighted to introduce Swan Group’s Annual Report and 
accounts and to have the opportunity to update you on the 
progress we are making against the Corporate Strategy we 
adopted last financial year. 

Whilst housing has always been our priority, the last year 
has seen it become more of a national priority. Yet at the 
same time, the delivery of these new homes and particularly 
“regeneration” has become more controversial too.  

For us at Swan it is, and always has been, simple.   

We take on large scale projects so that we can make the 
biggest difference, not just building homes but also delivering 
infrastructure including community space, medical centres, 
retail and commercial units, fantastic quality public realm 
and, on schemes like Purfleet on Thames, a school - possibly 
even a university campus.

We build mixed tenure schemes because it’s the right thing 
to do to create sustainable communities, but also because 
it enables us to fund much needed affordable homes.  Then 
we manage these homes for the long term, maintaining our 
estates and providing good quality housing services to our 
residents.  

Finally, we invest in our residents and the wider communities 
in which they live. Building their capacity, providing skills 
and employment training and delivering activities to support 
education health and wellbeing.  

That’s our social purpose: “delivering homes and services to 
those who need them” and it underpins everything we do.

So, our Corporate Strategy challenges us to do “more” 
and this report confirms that we are well on track to meet 
our ambitious targets.  We challenged ourselves to deliver 
10,000 more homes by 2027 and by securing the Purfleet 
on Thames regeneration project, we have already added 
just under another 3,000 homes to our development 
programme.  We want to generate 60% of our turnover from 
our commercial activities and are on track to do that by 2022 
helping us meet our ambitious target to deliver £250m of Gift 
Aid to invest in services and more new homes.  

We have now delivered our first modular homes to 
Beechwood Village, proving that innovation can accelerate 
high quality housing delivery and are now moving into full 
production in our factory.   We are confident that the “custom 
designed” homes we will be offering for sale will not only 
attract buyers to Beechwood but also help us generate a 
premium on these new homes which can be reinvested in our 
social purpose.

However, whilst having the desire and capacity to grow, we 
also recognise the need to maintain our governance and 
viability ratings as well as continuing to meet other relevant 
standards. We have maintained our G1 governance rating 
and will continue to ensure our viability rating, V2,  is robust 
and in line with the wider sector we work in.

The progress we have made so far is testament to successful 
partnership working with the Mayor of London, Homes 
England and our Borough partners and stakeholders.  
However, it would not have been possible without our staff.  

Our Corporate Strategy commitment to the Swan team has 
been to recognise those who live our values and to make 
Swan a brilliant place to work. We are making excellent 
progress on our transformation strategy with the roll out of 
our “Better ways of working” pilots having been successfully 
completed.  Following this success, we are now equipping 
our teams with the technology to ensure more staff can work 
in an agile way, which we know is better for them and helps 
them deliver a better service to our customers.
   

These efforts to make Swan an attractive place to work 
continue to be reflected in our rankings in the Sunday Times 
Top 100 Best Not-for-Profit Companies to work for list. Last 
year we reached 34, and this year (only the third year we 
have taken part) we leapt up to 22 (being the 8th Housing 
Association in the list).  

We have continued to engage with our residents, with 
almost 500 individuals getting involved this year, some 
frequently, some as a one-off, but all of whom have been 
able to influence the services we provide including our future 
digital offer. Our social purpose is delivered in so many 
ways through resident training, community grants, weekly 
community activities and through the Swan Foundation 
which this year funded projects benefiting over 1500 people.  
I would urge you to read the “Together Delivering More 
Opportunity” section of this Strategic Report on page 18 to 
find out more about this key part of our work. 

This year has seen us continue to tell our story in so many 
ways.  We have won external accreditation, particularly 
in the form of awards. We were delighted to win Housing 
Association of the Year 2017 at the What House Awards 
and to receive national and international recognition for 
our Laindon Place regeneration. However, for us it’s our 
residents that are the measure of our success. This year, 
Hollie, one of our former Foyer residents has won “Young 
Tenant of the Year” in the TPAS Southern Finals and is 
through to the national finals. It’s stories like Hollie’s and the 
inspiration that she gives not only our staff but to the young 
people she now helps, that make us want to continue to 
deliver so much more. 

Valerie Owen OBE Chair - Swan Housing Association

Chair’s IntroductionChair’s Introduction
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Income and Expenditure 2018

£m

2017

£m

2016

£m

2015

£m

2014

£m

Turnover 91.1 101.6 109.9 82.3 89.5

Turnover on general needs 
housing (excluding leave 
income)

50.6 50.5 48.7 45.7 42.5

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 15.6 8.2 10.8 (37.0) 6.2

Net interest payable 16.0 16.2 15.7 15.5 15.7

Balance Sheet £m £m £m £m £m

Tangible fixed assets - housing 720.8 690.2 703.7 685.3 624.0

Investment in new housing 45.6 16.3 18.1 45.0 32.7

Total expenditure on repairs 
and improvements

10.1 9.4 9.4 8.3 7.6

Grants - cash received 0.4 0.8 3.7 11.7 7.9

Banking borrowing (excluding 
fair value adjustments)

268.0 230.5 284.3 309.3 451.5

Bond 210.0 210.0 150.0 150.0 -

Accommodation (units) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total social housing stock 
owned

9,836 9,802 9,876 9,599 9,593

Total social housing stock 
owned and managed

11,323 11,293 11,396 11,125 11,124

KPI data 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Interest cover 168% 232% 220% 181% 158%

Net debt per unit (£) 49,587 44,591 47,782 51,418 46,394

General needs tenants arrears 
as % of rent due

2.24% 2.37% 2.48% 2.59% 2.23%

Void turnaround (days) 13.3 13.6 14.5 17.1 15.4

% of all repairs completed on 
time

99.2% 98.9% 98.5% 98.2% 98.9%

Group Consolidated Highlights - 5 Year Summary
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Principal Activities

The Swan Group (“Swan”), headed by Swan Housing 
Assocation Limited, started out in Basildon in 1994 and 
since then has grown to owning and managing over 
11,000 homes across Essex and East London, with a 
secured development pipeline of over 6,500 homes.  Our 
core aim is to deliver our social purpose, that is providing 
homes and services for those who need them, creating 
communities and opportunities for those who live in them. 

We provide general needs housing services, services 
to our leaseholders, NHS keyworker accommodation, 
supported housing accommodation and care services.  
We also build new homes of a range of tenures in large-
scale developments across Essex and East London and 
manage properties on behalf of other housing providers.  
All profits made are reinvested back to create sustainable 
communities where people want to live and work. 

Business and Financial Review

The Board is pleased to report an operating surplus 
of £25.3m (2017: £29.4m) and a surplus before tax of 
£15.6m (2017: £8.2m) for the year. The operating surplus 
includes another significant contribution from our social 
housing activities of £20.7m (2017: £24.5m) whilst our 
development activities delivered an operating suplus 
of £4.6m (2017: £4.9m). Turnover at £91.1m (2017: 
£101.6m) was in line with expectations. The variance 
year-on-year is attributable to a decrease in private 
residential homes sales which was anticipated due to the 
mix of affordable and private homes in our development 
plan and a £3.2m provision for the anticipated cost of 
replacing cladding on two schemes which contain a 
limited amount of aluminium composite material (ACM).

Group reserves increased to £227.1m (2017: £211.7m) 
and our balance sheet remains strong. Interest cover and 
net debt per unit, our key loan covenants, continue to 
meet our lenders’ requirements. 

We continue to perform in the upper quartile when 
benchmarked against our peers in terms of void 
turnaround which has improved to 13.3 days (2017: 13.6 
days). Current tenant arrears have also improved in the 
year to 2.24% of rent due (2017: 2.37%).

Chair’s IntroductionStrategic Report
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Since we started out in 1994, we have successfully 
delivered a range of schemes across Essex and East 
London and continue to work closely not only with our 
Borough partners, but also the Mayor of London and 
Homes England, building long-term relationships to 
ensure our activity creates the most opportunity for those 
living in the communities in which we work. 

We’ve grown to owning and managing over 11,000 
homes and now have a secured development pipeline of 
6,500 homes. 

Our in-house contractor, NU living, 
has now started on site on over 
1,200 new homes. We are building 
almost all of our projects - from 
custom build modular houses at 
Beechwood in Basildon to 360 
Barking, our iconic 28-storey tower 

development in Barking and Dagenham. We continue to 
deliver our programme through a mixture of traditional 

Swan Executives, Advisors and Bankers

HomesTogether delivering more

Regeneration
Community Space
Transformation

Innovation
Services
Social Purpose

construction and precision-manufactured modular 
homes, considering every project individually to agree 
the appropriate method of construction.   

We are committed to using innovation to deliver more 
homes to meet housing need. This year we have 
completed and delivered our first modular homes to site 
at Beechwood in Basildon, Essex. Next year modular 
homes will be delivered to our award winning Laindon 
Place scheme in Essex and to Watts Grove in Tower 
Hamlets.  We are moving into full production and on track 
to deliver over 300 homes in the factory by 2022.

We were delighted that our “NU build system” won the 
“Best Approach to Modular Construction” at the Inside 
Housing Development Awards 2017. The judges noted 
the creation of local jobs; and the delivery of high quality 
homes in 50% of traditional construction times, with 90% 
savings on waste and initially 10% cost savings, with 
further savings expected as efficiencies increase.
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“
John Synnuck, Swan CEO, reflecting on celebrating 50 years in housing in the March 2018 edition of New London 
Quarterly:  

Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionTogether delivering more Homes

I believe we have now reached a critical moment in our history. The 
increasing scale of the regeneration work that Housing Associations are 
taking on, made possible by the willingness to collaborate that exists 
with The Mayor of London and Borough partners, means our sector is 
now working with leading architects and designers to transform vast 
swathes of London. 

My experience has shown that, by approaching the challenges we face 
with an entrepreneurial and innovative spirit, Housing Associations can 
not only continue to deliver significant numbers of new homes, but are 
uniquely placed to respond to the new appetite for collaboration that 
exists. We can not only stimulate debate around innovation, but actually 
deliver exemplary new communities

“
This year we completed 73 new homes and next year 
we will see the first homes being completed at the next 
phase of Blackwall Reach in Tower Hamlets, at The 
Paragon in Redbridge; at 360 Barking, in Barking and 
Dagenham and at Beechwood in Basildon. 

We continue to “tell our story” around the delivery of 
new homes particularly focusing on thought leadership 
on modular construction (speaking at a range of events 
including CIH Conference, National Housing Federation 
Conference, London Real Estate Forum, MIPIM, even the 
Danish Embassy) and on the opportunities available to 
our sector if we collaborate and innovate.



10 Swan Housing Association Limited Annual Report 2018

Five Links

A development 

The journey begins with 
2,000 homes. West 
Kent Housing
Association hands over 
the development at
Noak Bridge to 
Basildon Community 
Housing Association 
(BCHA – later to be 
renamed Swan).

Swan New Homes, 
Swan’s private 
development company, 
is incorporated in 
August 2004. 

Swan New Homes 
begins trading under 
the NU living brand in 
2014.  

English Partnerships
selected Swan as the
preferred RSL partner 
to lead on the 10-
year regeneration 
programme at 
Craylands, Basildon
which will see the 
creation of 1,300 new 
homes.

In 2011, 118 units went 
up for private sale. 

Planning for future 
stages which utilised 
modular construction 
were approved by 
Basildon Borough 
Council in 2016 and our 
first modular home was 
finished in March 2018 
(top image). 

Work begins on
Five Links – a major
regeneration site in
Basildon.

Phase 2 of the £26m
regeneration 
programme at Five 
Links, Basildon was
completed on target in 
2006 with the handover 
of the last of 400 new 
homes.

Swan propose the 
development of a 
24-storey residential 
tower in Docklands 
E14. 

Construction work 
started in 2009 and was 
completed in 2012. 

Today, Streamlight is an 
iconic 24-storey tower 
of high specification 
1, 2 and 3 bedroom 
apartments, with 
fantastic views of the 
city and the River 
Thames.

BeechwoodThe 
beginning...

Streamlight

1994 20061996 2007

In December 2002 
Swan is selected by the 
residents of Crossways 
estate in Bow, to 
prepare stock transfer 
and develop many 
new affordable homes. 
Tower Hamlets council 
transferred the estate of 
600 homes to Swan
in 2005. 

In 2015 Bow Cross won 
The Mayor’s Award for 
Planning Excellence, 
as well as the ‘Best 
Project Five Years On’ 
award at the London 
Planning Awards, which 
is testament to the hard 
work which has gone 
into making it such a 
success over the past 
decade.

Bow Cross

2002
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Swan is selected as the
preferred developer to 
work on the
regeneration of 
Blackwall Reach in
Tower Hamlets in 2011. 

Replacing the Brutalist 
Robin Hood Gardens, 
the first phase of the 
£300m project was 
completed in June 2016 
and the regeneration 
will provide almost 
1,600 homes over the 
next decade. 

Swan propose plans for 
transforming a long 
vacant site in Barking 
Town Centre.

Working in partnership 
with the London 
Borough of Barking 
and Dagenham and 
the Mayor of London, 
Swan will deliver four 
interlinked residential 
towers, designed by 
Studio Egret West 
and built by the NU 
living team, called 
360 Barking. When 
completed, it will 
provide 291 residential 
homes, of which 96 
will be affordable, 
with priority for local 
residents and will be 
finished in Winter 2018.

Swan purchased the 
Laindon Shopping 
Centre in May 2015. 

In February 2017, 
following extensive 
consultation, Basildon 
Borough Council 
unanimously approved 
our plans which will 
deliver a brand new 
high street with shops, 
landscaped public 
realm, parking, a new 
Lidl supermarket, 224 
new homes and a new 
health centre. 

In addition, we will be 
moving our head office 
to Laindon. 

The GLA has 
completed its site 
preparation works and 
handed over the Webbs 
Industrial Estate site 
to collaborators Swan 
and Catalyst who will, 
together, regenerate 
the former industrial 
site in Waltham Forest 
to include circa 330 
homes, all of which will 
be affordable.  

The site, now known 
as Blackhorse Yard, 
will also become a 
creative hub providing 
more than 3,000 
square metres of new 
affordable workspace 
and artist studios for 
London’s new Borough 
of Culture. 

We were thrilled to 
announce in November 
2017 that we will work 
with our partners to 
deliver the £1 billion 
regeneration of Purfleet 
in Thurrock. 

One of the UK’s 
most exciting urban 
transformational 
developments, this 
groundbreaking project 
will see around 2,800 
new homes built 
alongside a world-
leading film and TV 
complex, an improved 
train station and 
bridge crossing, a new 
primary and secondary 
school and other vital 
health and education 
infrastructure. 

timeline...

Purfleet on 
Thames

Blackwall 
Reach

360 Barking Laindon 
Shopping 

Centre

Webbs 
Industrial 

Estate

2011 2013 2015 2017 2018
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Whilst externally the term “regeneration” is sometimes 
seen as difficult, possibly even negative for the 
communities involved, for us it’s straightforward. We take 
on large-scale projects so that we can make the biggest 
difference, not just building homes but also infrastructure; 
including community space, medical centres, town 
centres and a fantastic quality public realm.  

This enables us to build communities that people want to 
stay living in or want to move to. 

We build mixed tenure schemes because it’s the right 
thing to do to create sustainable communities, but also 
because it enables us to fund much needed affordable 
homes. Then we manage them for the long term, 
maintaining them and investing in our residents. This 
social purpose, delivering homes and services to those 
who need them, underpins every regeneration we do. 

This year, we’ve been delighted that our approach to 
building communities and the benefit of these long-term 
relationships has been recognised:

We were Highly Commended at the Planning Awards 
2017 for our contribution to the Economic Growth of 
Basildon, where we started out in 1994, with the judges 
recognising the impact of our regeneration work and our 

investment in our modular housing factory, as well as our 
housing services.

The Mayor of London, Sadiq Kahn, chose to launch 
his new Housing Strategy at the £300m Blackwall 
Reach regeneration we are delivering in partnership 
with the London Borough of Tower Hamlets and the 
GLA, because it is an “exemplar” scheme – delivering 
over 1,500 new homes (of these homes, 50% will be 
affordable tenure (including large family homes) and 
80% of these homes are for social rent).  In addition, the 
project provides shops, commercial premises including a 
new Swan regional office, community facilities; improved 
public green space and new station square at Blackwall 
Reach DLR. 

The judges at the What House Awards 2017 awarded 
us “Housing Association of the Year” noting not only our 
innovative approach to modular construction and our 
commitment to delivering more high-quality homes, more 
quickly, but also our willingness to take on those difficult 
challenges others do not. They highlighted our plans 
to finally bring about the long-awaited regeneration of 
the Laindon Shopping Centre, because we have 1,500 
homes surrounding it, as well as our landmark scheme at 
360 Barking.
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Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionTogether delivering more Communities

Having secured unanimous consent for our plans to 
bring about the long-awaited regeneration of Laindon 
Shopping Centre in February 2017, we have been 
focusing on delivering the complex land assembly and 
preparing for start on site.  

We are due to break ground in Summer 2018 on this 
landmark project, which will deliver a new High Street for 
Laindon, with shops, a new integrated medical centre, 
Swan office, high-quality public realm and 224 new 
homes.  Like most of the schemes in our 6,500 home 
development pipeline, Laindon Place will be built by NU 
living, our in house contractor and will also feature our 
“NU build system” modular homes, constructed locally in 
our modular housing factory. 

Laindon Place has already been recognised nationally, 
scooping the coveted Best Scheme in Planning at 
the National Housing Awards 2017 and the Best 
Regeneration Award at the Housing Design Awards 2017 
and was also shortlisted for Masterplan of the Year in the 
Architect’s Journal Awards 2017. The NHA judges said 
Laindon was: “A great scheme that is both regenerative 
and visionary and brings together residential and 
commercial uses to create a new heart for the town.”

Laindon Place has also received international recognition 
being Highly Commended in the MIPIM/Architectural 
Review’s Future Project Awards for Regeneration and 
Master Planning; an award which showcases outstanding 
architectural projects from around the world.

Laindon Place case study
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Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionTogether delivering more Communities

Since adopting our commitment to deliver an additional 
10,000 homes by 2027, we have grown our secured 
development pipeline to over 6,500 homes. This includes 
up to 3,000 homes for our newest project, Purfleet on 
Thames. 

This £1billion regeneration of Purfleet will create new 
retail, leisure and commercial uses, an improved 
transport infrastructure, a new health facility, primary 
school and university campus and high-quality public 
realm. As primary land owner, Thurrock Council has 
appointed  Purfleet Centre Regeneration Limited to 
deliver the scheme, in which Swan became a joint 
venture partner on 31 October 2017.
   

Exemplifying our social purpose, with its focus 
on creating opportunity through regeneration, the 
development of our masterplan has been driven by our 
ambition to deliver a thriving mixed-use community which 
addresses the lack of local amenities in the existing town 
centre, improves the safety of a major road, encourages 
a modal shift and a healthy lifestyle and transforms the 
riverfront as an asset for Purfleet. 

This project is enabling us to focus on communities of 
the future, smart cities and how the benefits can be 
harnessed for the existing community. We will also use 
our expertise to create opportunities for our existing 
residents.  

Purfleet on Thames case study
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Our Corporate Strategy makes customer service central 
to our success.  Where we deliver good customer 
services we must continue to do so.  Where our services 
could be improved we will work hard to improve them. 

This year we have seen continued strong KPI 
performance across a range of indicators, reflective of 
our robust approach to service improvement and delivery 
of service standards. Overall customer satisfaction  
remains good at 81.6%, our void performance continues 
to be in the top quartile at less than 13.3 days, enabling 
us to get more people into their new homes, more 
quickly.  We again finished the year with arrears levels 
exceeding our target, this year at 2.24%, notwithstanding 
further implementation of welfare reform.

Our support for residents has been externally recognised 
this year:

Our Income Team were shortlisted at the UKHA 
Awards 2017 for their Outstanding Approach to Income 
Management – recognising how our team of four 
dedicated Welfare Benefit and Welfare Reform Officers 
have carried out over 1,700 home visits to help our 
residents navigate the changes in the welfare benefit 
system and completed 495 applications for Discretionary 
Housing Payment of which over 86% were successful, 
resulting in residents receiving an extra £270k in support. 

Our Customer Services Team were shortlisted at the 
Housing Heroes Awards 2018 in the Frontline Team 
of the Year category for their work supporting our 
customers to resolve issues they may have with our 
service. Their customer-centred approach ensures that 
the team provide a key link between those who receive 
our services and those who provide them and that a 
resolution is found. 

Our approach to Equality and Diversity was recognised at 
the Diversity Awards 2018 with our Annual Diversity Day 
event being shortlisted in the Diversity Scheme category 
and our Housing Diversity Manager being shortlisted in 
the Straight Ally Award.

We were delighted to retain our Customer Service 
Excellence Accreditation again this year – with two 
areas of our work – “Service Improvement through 
consultation” and “Customer insight to inform policy and 
strategy” being rated as compliant plus. The assessor 
noted “the clear and well-defined strategy that guides 
the scope and direction of the Association, the depth 
and effectiveness of its engagement with tenants and 
residents, the determination to provide high-quality 
services, the knowledge and customer focus of staff, the 
excellent partnership working and benefits that these 
bring to the wider communities.”

Our strategic partnership with Axis, delivering our 
repairs and maintenance service, continues to perform 
well.  For the fifth year running we were able to work 
together to ensure 100% gas safety compliance.  Void 
turnaround times continue to be at the top of our sector’s 
performance at 13.3 days. 99.2% of repairs were 
completed on target and 97% of people were satisfied 
with their last repair. We have invested £2.5m in planned 
works, ensuring the high-quality of our homes and spent 
£215k on adaptations to enable our residents to continue 
to enjoy their homes. 

A key part of our Resident Involvement and Community 
Development team’s work is to ensure that residents can 
influence our services.  This year 500 residents took part 
in our resident engagement activities.  This ranged from 
formal engagement on a regular basis through Swan’s 
governance structure, to informal engagement through 
events such as SwanFest. 

This year’s SwanFest, attended by over 240 residents, 
carried out research into residents’ appetite for digital 
services, to support the development of our digital offer 
in line with our corporate strategy targets.  This research 
identified the top three services that residents wanted to 
access online (paying their rent; reporting and monitoring 
repairs; and asking a question and receiving an answer) 
and, critically, that most residents would be using a 
smart phone to access digital services.  As such, all 



16 Swan Housing Association Limited Annual Report 2018
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digital offers to residents will have strong smartphone 
capabilities going forward. 

Throughout the year we focused on being “the local 
partner”, working closely with our Borough Partners to 
support a range of activities including:

• Taking part in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
Junior Young Citizens event, working with the Police, 
Fire Brigade, Transport for London and the Borough 
to reach out to over 1,000 children about who keeps 
their neighbourhood safe and how ASB can change 
areas and ruin lives. 

• Working with the Borough offices and Councillors, 
other HA’s and the Police and other community 
services to ensure that we use the opportunity 
presented by our regeneration of Blackhorse Yard, 
to work together with local stakeholders in Waltham 
Forest to develop wider communities that deliver the 
highest standards of estate management and work 
collaboratively to tackle ASB. 

• Working with Basildon Borough Council and Essex 
Police to tackle “cuckooing”, whereby criminal gangs 
infiltrate a resident’s home, leaving them vulnerable 
and open to abuse. 

We continue to offer property management services 
to a range of Borough partners including the London 
Boroughs of Newham and Havering and also to Thurrock 
Council. Our Corporate Strategy challenges us to 
continue to grow this area of our activity and provide 
Private Rental Sector homes. Through projects such as 
Purfleet on Thames, we look to be well-positioned to 
make good progress on meeting these targets in future 
years. 

Working with the London Borough of Newham as part 
of the Forest Gate PFI contract we have had another 
successful year delivering housing management 
services achieving our contractual performance targets. 
We manage 1,400 homes and 83% of residents were 
satisfied with Swan as a landlord. Last year we visited 
543 residents in Newham to support them with welfare 
reform and secured them an additional £96k in benefits, 
including housing benefit and disability benefit. 
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Our approach to Care and Support continues to focus 
on the delivery of high-quality care in a way which 
empowers service users.  

Our three Foyer services for example, are currently on 
target to achieve their full Foyer Federation Accreditation 
by the end of the 2018/2019 financial year and were 
shortlisted in five categories at the first ever Foyer 
Federation Awards this year. Staff members were 
shortlisted in both the “Foyer Legend” and “Young 
Person’s Choice” categories; a former resident was 
shortlisted in the “Positive Move-On” category and our 
Basildon Foyer (including the Swan House and Dove 
Cott Foyers) were one of just three Foyers of the 120 in 
the country, to be shortlisted in the “Foyer of the Year” 
category.  At the ceremony, Beverly Ford won the “Young 
Person’s Choice Award” recognising her outstanding 
work to support the young people who live in our Foyers.

The success of the Foyer Team is of course dependent 
on the staff and residents working together. The 
relationships that our teams build with the young people 
they support changes lives and, in some cases, has an 
extraordinary impact on other young people too. At the 
TPAS South Region final in November 2017, a former 
Swan Foyer resident, Hollie Smith, won the Young Tenant 
of the Year award and is now through to the National 
Finals in July 2018.

The judges recognised Hollie as an inspirational young 
woman, who having arrived at Swan House Foyer aged 
17, not only took all the opportunities available to restart 
her education and gain qualifications, but also found a 
talent for maths and teaching others. Although Hollie 
has successfully completed the Foyer programme, has 
moved on and started her own family, she still returns 
twice a week as a volunteer to teach other young people 
how to budget and manage their money. She has 
credibility with the young people, they trust her and as 
a result, listen, so the impact she makes on their lives is 
significant. 

The Care and Support Team continue to innovate, 
developing further their offer to support the NHS deal 
with vulnerable residents. Swan Care and Support have 
been assisting Colchester Hospital by supporting patients 
to be discharged from hospital since 2014 and continue 
to work with Anglian Community Enterprise, supporting 
GPs to avoid patients being admitted to hospital in the 
first place. 

Communities
Social Purpose
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We’ve already explained that our social purpose 
underpins everything we do and that means that we look 
to create opportunities for our residents and indeed the 
wider community through our work. This means creating 
the right circumstances for residents to benefit not just 
from having a well-designed home but also from:

Training:  This year 60 residents completed training 
with us as part of a programme designed in consultation 
with our residents to meet their needs.  For example, 
this year we added training on mobile phone repairs, 
having received requests from residents who wished 
to start their own business.  We tailor training to help 
empower communities – for example, providing food 
hygiene training to enable a community lunch club to 
continue.   We’ve also added online learning to our 
programme to ensure that those juggling work and/
or family commitments can still benefit and we remove 
other barriers by covering transport and childcare costs.

Living an active lifestyle:  Our community facilities 
offer a range of exercise, health and well being classes 
on our large estates throughout the week, including 
women-only classes.  This year we have successfully 
obtained funding to install an outdoor gym at our Bow 
Cross Estate in Tower Hamlets and delivered a training 
programme to ensure residents feel confident using it. 
This project has been so successful that we have applied 
and been granted further funding to install outdoor gyms 
at our Exmouth and Express Wharf Estates. 

Accessing funds for their community groups 
or to carry out improvement works on their 
estate to make living there better:  This year £10k 
of Community Chest grants were awarded to 15 local 
community groups to enable them to offer a range of 
community initiatives including: youth groups, Christmas 
parties, garden projects and pantomime visits. In 
addition, £20k was allocated to improvements requested 
by residents to tackle those small but essential 
improvements that make residents lives easier – for 
example the installation of sensor lighting in a dark area. 
In the case of both these grants, the final decision was 
made by our involved residents groups.

Living in a sustainable community:  We continue to 
prioritise sustainability, holding SHIFT Gold status.  We 
also held our annual sustainability week, which aims to 
raise awareness of green issues amongst staff, in April 
2018. Sessions included a talk from Essex and Suffolk 
Water on how staff can save money on their bills, the 
eco benefits of Cross-Laminated Timber (CLT) modular 
construction and a workshop and seminar on the rise of 
sustainable clothing/fashion.

Looking forward we are working to develop the first 
modular construction apprenticeships at our new factory 
and have been working in partnership with PROCAT 
to develop this. We also have been partnering with 
Essex County Council as they recognise that modular 
construction will be a key construction method of the 
future and want to ensure that they are training young 
people to have the appropriate skills to work in this 
sector.  

Services
Social Purpose
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We are passionate about customer service and our 
Corporate Strategy is clear - having the best people to 
deliver it is crucial. We want to have engaged employees 
who are well-trained, appropriately rewarded and feel 
they can take decisions to deliver great services for us, 
our customers and our partners.
    

This year we continued to strive to be an even better 
place to work. This has seen us:

• Successfully roll out the first pilot offices in 
our transformation programme, enabling us 
to work in a more “agile” way, with modern 
flexible work spaces designed to be right for 
the different activities our staff undertake.  

• Successfully roll out new IT equipment 
designed to allow staff to work in an agile way. 

• Provide 14,800 hours of training for our staff 
including continuing Leadership Development 
Training and invested in enabling our staff 
to continue their professional education, 
ensuring that in all areas of our business we 
have staff who can both further their careers 
and deliver the highest standards of service to 
our residents. 

In our Corporate Strategy we committed to recognise 
those staff who live our values. We hosted our first 
Annual Employee Awards this year, celebrating the staff 
who have been nominated for delivering “more” to our 
customers internal and external and who have been 
recognised as living our values: 

I am innovative
I am enterprising
I want to make a difference
I believe in our social purpose                        

This event was a huge success with staff from across the 
Group coming together to recognise their colleagues. 

Our More Rewards scheme, in which managers nominate 
other members of staff for vouchers or gifts for showing 
exceptional examples of living our values, saw 57 people 

receive a reward last year. 

We were delighted that the continued impact of this 
focus on investing in our people and being a brilliant 
place to work has resulted in our staff satisfaction levels 
increasing overall. This increase in staff engagement 
enabled Swan to jump a further 12 places to be 
ranked No. 22 in the Sunday Times Best Not-for-Profit 
Organisations to work for in the UK (and, in the same 
chart, the 8th Best Housing Association!).  This is already 
helping us recruit even more brilliant staff to join our 
team.  

In the coming year we will continue to consult staff on our 
transformation journey and have created a programme to 
ensure that we are engaging directly with our millennial 
staff, whose voices may be less heard, but who of 
course, represent the future of our business. 

Our Corporate Strategy and policies lay the foundations 
for a truly inclusive organisation.  Our recruitment and 
selection and learning and development policies are 
based on equality of opportunity and our recruiting 
processes are non-discriminatory. We met our 
obligations to publish gender pay information and used 
the opportunity to reflect on how to make the best use of 
this key resource and to develop outreach in areas that 
are traditionally male-dominated.  We shall be focusing 
on increasing the number of women in senior roles within 
our organisation and managing better our talent pipeline. 
Our transformation programme, with its focus on agile 
working, will help enable the formal and informal ways of 
working flexibly which we promote. 

Our team continue to focus on Equality and Diversity 
across the business and in addition to another very 
successful Diversity Day event (which this year focused 
on Homelessness, Domestic Abuse and FGM (Female 
Genital Mutilation), our Swan team took part in a range 
of diversity activities including London and Essex Pride, 
the HouseProud network and Mental Health Awareness 
Training).  
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Our strategy recognises that by “telling our story” to our stakeholders they will understand what we offer and how we 
can help them to deliver their own plans.

We are clear that we are commercial, enterprising and innovative and that we believe in our social purpose.
Throughout this year, we have used key milestones in our projects and activities to promote our work. This has 
enabled us to engage with Ministers, MPs, Borough Leaders, Local Councillors and stakeholders across a range of 
activities. In addition, we have provided speakers at a variety of thought leadership events including conferences, 
round table events, panel discussions and seminars. Topics have included off-site construction; housing finance, 
regeneration and supported housing. 

This focus on “telling our story” has been applied across the Group and has resulted in a significant growth in our 
communications activity as highlighted below:

COVERAGE 
(NUMBER OF 
ARTICLES) 

PRESS 
RELEASES ISSUED, 

REACHING 50M 
PEOPLE

fans

1,123 49V&A
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Capital Structure and Treasury 
Management

The Group’s treasury policy is designed to ensure there 
is sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities as they fall due, that 
our covenants are met, that we achieve a market return 
on surplus funds and that our future funding plans fully 
support our strategic objectives.

We continue to explore new funding opportunities to 
support our commercial activities.

Facilities and Liquidity

As at 31 March 2018 the Group had the following 
committed facilities:

Source Facility 
2018
£m

Drawn 
2018
£m

Facility
2017
£m

Drawn
2017
£m

RBS Loan 138 98 138 93
Lloyds 
Loan 118 113 119 98

Santander 
Loan 23 23 23 23

Bank 
Loan 
Total

279 234 280 214

Bond 250 210 250 210
Bank & 

Bond 
Total

529 444 530 424

RBS PFI 40 28 40 30
GLA 

Loans 79 35 79 16

Total 
Debt 648 507 649 471

As at 31 March 2018 the Group had £45m of bank (2017: 
£56m), £40m of bond (2017: £40m) and £44m of GLA 
(2017: £63m) committed undrawn facilities available for 
borrowing.  In line with our prudent policies on liquidity 
management, these undrawn facilities meet all of the 
Group’s contractually committed developments in the 
coming years.

In February 2018, S&P downgraded the Association’s 
credit rating by one notch from A with a negative outlook 
to A- with a stable outlook. This was not unexpected as 
our credit rating had been on a negative outlook for some 
time and the factors that prompted S&P to move us to 
a negative outlook originally, principally our exposure 
to development and private market sales, had not 
diminished. 

The Group borrows from three (2017: three) banks at 
floating rates of interest.  Interest rate swaps are used 
to convert most of the floating rates into fixed or RPI 
indexed rates to limit the Group’s exposure to increases 
in interest rates.  

The RBS PFI loan is at a floating rate with a swap that 
fixes the interest rate at 6.21%. 

The bond and the two GLA loans have fixed rates of 
interest, and no swaps have been entered into to convert 
these fixed rates into a different interest rate basis.

At 31 March 2018, 85% (2017: 89%) of debt (excluding 
the GLA loans in Swan New Homes) was fixed and 
15% (2017: 11%) was floating. Scenario analysis has 
been run to assess the sensitivity of the floating debt to 
movements in interest rates.

If the £25m of drawn Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) at 
the year end is excluded from the above figures, then the 
mix is 90% fixed and 10% floating.

The Group does not have any non-Sterling or exchange 
rate exposures.

The charts below and on the next page show the split 
of outstanding debt (excluding GLA loans) between 
variable and fixed rates, and of the fixed rates, a further 
breakdown by fix type including and excluding the RCF.

Interest Rate Risk Management

All drawn debt (excluding GLA loans) 
£472m 

15%

85% 72%

3% 10%

Variable Fixed RPI 
Indexed

Callable 
< 1 year
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Counterparty Risk Management

Risk Management

Compliance with Loan Covenants

Excluding £25m RCF

3%

Variable Fixed RPI 
Indexed

Callable 
< 1 year

The Group maintains a formal counterparty policy in 
respect of those institutions where surplus funds may be 
deposited.  Deposits are made either in call accounts, 
or where the notice period is no more than two months.  
In addition, the credit ratings of institutions are regularly 
reviewed and form part of any investment decision. 

The Group has three key loan covenants:

1. Interest cover which is based on earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and major 
repairs included (EBITDA-MRI).

2. Debt per unit which is based on those residential 
units which are owned or managed by Swan Housing 
Association and generate a rental income.

3. Asset cover covenant, which is based on a 
percentage of the asset value.

Whilst the bank loans have all three of the above 
covenants, the £250m bond, which was issued in March 
2015 has only a gearing asset cover covenant.  These 
are monitored monthly and reported to the three bank 
lenders on a quarterly basis. For the year ended 31 
March 2018 we were in compliance with our covenants. 
All four sources of finance, three bank loans and the 
bond, are secured on social housing assets.

Treasury Strategy

We will continue to look to deliver Value for Money 
savings through prudent cash management processes 
and minimising interest costs where possible and in line 
with Treasury policies.

Swan has a well-developed risk management system 
and an embedded culture of risk management.  Our Risk 
Management Strategy clearly defines our risk appetite 
and the role of the Board, Audit and Risk Committee, 
Managers and Staff.

Through risk management we:

• embed risk assessment and risk management 
into the culture of the organisation

• carry out risk assessments on all departments 
and significant projects

• monitor the overall impact of risks to ensure 
that the overall level of risk remains within 
acceptable limits

• minimise losses, injury and damage and reduce 
the cost of risk

• ensure appropriate mitigating actions are taken 
to address identified risks

• review key risks at Board and Audit and Risk 
Committee

• review and report on the effectiveness of risk 
management and our internal controls annually 

10% 90%

11%
76%
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Key Risk: Risk Mitigation:

• Significant fall in property prices or a material 
slowdown in the housing market or a significant 
increase in construction costs would have a 
detrimental effect on our business plan due to a 
reduction in the profits from the sale of new homes

• Robust appraisal process and prudent assumptions 
with regards to sales values

• Experienced sales and marketing team
• Regular options appraisals on scheme tenure mix 

and scenario planning
• Off-plan sales to mitigate sales risk

• Failure to comply with financial and other covenants 
in loan documentation as a result of inaccurate 
cash flow forecasting or other issues would have an 
adverse effect on our business plan

• Well-established cash flow forecasting and business 
planning process

• Clear understanding of loan documentation and 
associated covenants

• Effective scenario planning including multi-variance 
analysis

• A fire in one of our properties from ineffective 
management would have a serious detrimental 
reputational and financial effect

• Robust processes and procedures in place with 
regards to managing fire safety

• Regular reporting of fire risks at all levels in the 
organisation

• Government policy with regards to the rents we can 
charge or long periods of low inflation may have an 
adverse effect on our business plan

• We have modelled the impact of changes in rent 
levels in our business plan and we have put in place 
plans which will substantially mitigate the impact of 
these changes on our business plan 

• Further changes to the Government’s rent policy 
have been modelled in our stress testing of the 
business plan

• Our investment in digital transformation and agile 
working does not deliver anticipated business 
benefits

• Clear action plan in place that includes budget, 
programme and milestones

• Regular performance reporting  and monitoring

• The changes to the benefits system as a result of 
welfare reform may have an adverse effect on rent 
arrears

• Detailed action plan in place to address the impact of 
welfare reform

• Welfare Benefits Advisors in post  to provide support 
and advice to residents

• Clear understanding of the potential financial impact 
of welfare reform 

• The failure of a strategic partner could lead to a 
deterioration in service levels to residents or a delay 
in the delivery of development projects

• Ongoing monitoring and review of the performance 
of strategic partners

• The failure to deliver one of our material 
development schemes on time and to budget could 
have an adverse effect on our business plan

• Robust, externally validated processes and 
procedures for our development activities

• Business planning includes sensitivities around 
increased costs and delays in delivery of material 
schemes

The Board considers that the key risks we face are:
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Value for Money (VfM)
In March 2017 we launched our new Corporate Strategy which guides us through the next five years to 2022 and 
will prepare us to achieve our exciting and ambitious vision for the following five years to 2027. Our ambition is to not 
just grow our business, but also to tell our story and increase our work with our partners to maximise the difference 
we can make, so we can achieve our mission of ‘delivering effective services, enterprising solutions and exemplary 
homes and communities’. 

We have a clear vision of where we want to be by 2027. It looks like this:

• Turnover of at least £200m
• Generate 60% of that turnover through our commercial activities
• Generate £250m of Gift Aid to reinvest in services and affordable housing
• Offer a private rented sector product
• Have secured three large-scale regeneration schemes
• Have an additional 10,000 homes

To deliver our vision we have set out seven transformational actions in our Corporate Strategy:

1. Grow commercial turnover to 60% of our revenue to generate Gift Aid
2. Be an innovative housing provider
3. Deliver digital self-service internally and externally
4. Recruit and retain the best people to deliver our activity
5. Provide effective services
6. Use agile working 
7. Tell our story

Our progress in delivering these transformational actions is monitored by the Board through a series of measurable 
targets based on outcomes. Value for money (VfM) is embedded within the transformational actions so, for example, 
included within the transformational action 1 above we have the following action:

‘By building more homes through the life of the strategy we will continue to help meet the growing 
challenges of housing need.  By delivering a proportion of these in our own factory we can deliver a 
high-quality innovative product more efficiently and at a lower cost’

…and clear targets so we can measure our success:

‘2,000 new homes built over the corporate strategy period and 300 units developed in our factory by 
March 2022’

The delivery of our Corporate Strategy will ensure that we continue to operate efficiently and effectively.

The Value for Money Standard 2018 effective from 1 April 2018 sets out a revised set of requirements with regards 
to VfM. Registered Provider (RP) boards must publish evidence in the statutory accounts to enable stakeholders to 
understand the provider’s performance against its own VfM targets and any metrics set out by the regulator, and how 
that performance compares to peers and measurable plans to address any areas of underperformance, including 
clearly stating any areas where improvements would not be appropriate and the rationale for this. The RP must 
demonstrate: 

• a robust approach to achieving VfM
• regular and appropriate consideration by the Board of potential value for money gains
• consideration of value for money across the whole business including non-social housing activity
• ensure they have appropriate targets in place for measuring performance in achieving VfM in 

delivering their strategic objectives.

This self-assessment provides evidence of our achievements in 2017/18 and demonstrates our accountability to our 
residents and stakeholders.

The Value for Money Standard 2018
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For us, VfM means obtaining the best value from available resources to allow us to deliver better services, more 
homes and effective communities, both in terms of quantity and quality and the social value provided.

The key elements to our approach are set out in our strategy and in summary are to:

• have a clear Corporate Strategy which sets out what we want to achieve as a business
• ensure we invest in the right assets, including human resources at the right price
• ensure our services and outputs are customer-driven and that there is economic, efficient and 

effective delivery
• achieve the right outcomes, including social value which is at the heart of everything we do
• reinvest value for money gains so we can achieve more

VfM is embedded in Swan Housing Association. The Board has overall responsibility for delivering the Value for 
Money Strategy and ensuring its principles are applied in the delivery of services, strategic planning and investment 
decisions.  

The Operations Committee agrees and monitors operational service reviews to drive continuous improvement. 
Appraisals for the delivery of new homes are considered by the Development Committee to ensure they align with our 
investment strategy and our Corporate Strategy ambitions.

Our customers have a key role in assessing and enhancing VfM. The Residents’ Consultative Committees review 
performance on a monthly basis, and are directly involved in the policy setting process. In addition the Residents’ 
Scrutiny Panel are able to carry out detailed service reviews and provide a sounding board for new VfM initiatives and 
service improvement programmes.

VfM is embedded throughout our decision-making process, strategies and policies. Our procurement, portfolio 
management, asset management, regeneration and development, people, treasury and social value and engagement 
strategies are all keys parts in our overall approach to achieving VfM.

Swan’s Approach To Delivering Value for Money
We have developed a VfM framework which is split into seven key areas of activity, each providing a structure for 
recording outcomes and testing whether the objectives of the strategy are being met.  

managing our 
finances

planning 
our funding

assessing
comparative

costs and 
performance

maximising 
return on 

assets

effective 
procurement

Improving 
services through 

resident and 
service user 
involvement

investment in 
development 

and new 
business
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Swan’s Group Structure

Cumulative Profit from Commercial Activity

As part of the development of our Corporate Strategy we considered the activities we currently undertake and those 
which we may wish to undertake in the future. We also reviewed our legal arrangements, governance structure and 
funding arrangements to ensure that they delivered VfM and supported our plans. 

We have generated £21.2m of profit from commercial activities over the last three years, taking our cumulative profit 
from these activities to £65.4m. This has been invested in regeneration projects, the development of new homes, 
maintaining homes, delivering services and community projects.

Our business plan forecasts £76.7m of profit from our commercial activities over the next three years which will 
increase the cumulative contribution to £142.1m. 

Swan’s Value for Money ‘Story’

The year in review has seen another successful chapter added to our VfM ‘story’. We have a clear Corporate Strategy 
and a robust approach to decision-making through our Group Investment Strategy that allows us to consider VfM 
across the whole business and ensure that we understand the risks and rewards of the activities we undertake. We 
have a well-established framework and targets, including a balanced scorecard, that allows us to monitor and report 
our performance.  

We have also delivered on the plans set out last year and a summary of our achievements in 2017/18 is included in 
each of the following sections.

The central theme of our VfM story is understanding our performance and costs relative to our peers and the sector 
as a whole.

Assessing Comparative Costs and Performance

We have analysed our performance against the seven new VfM metrics introduced by the Regulator of Social Hous-
ing. We also utilise a suite of further metrics which are integral to the delivery of our ambitious Corporate Strategy as 
well as continuing to participate in Housemark to benchmark our performance. 

Value for Money Metrics

The table below contains our performance for the last two years benchmarked against the overall sector average and 
a peer group of 21 housing associations who are based in the East of England and London with between 5,000 and 
20,000 homes. 
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The first metric, reinvestment in housing stock held in fixed assets, includes spend on new properties and works 
to existing homes. Our performance is below our peer group and the sector average mainly due to our development 
programme containing between 50%-60% non-social housing units, which are not included in this measure. A further 
consideration is the relative age and condition of our stock which consequently requires less major repair works than 
our peers in the sector. Our performance and future plans are set out in more detail in the ‘maximising our return on 
assets’ and ‘investment in development and new business’ sections below.

The new supply delivered metrics are subject to year-on-year fluctuations. This is driven by our approach, 
particularly on larger regeneration schemes, to build out developments in phases over a number of financial years, 
where each phase contains a high percentage of one type of social or non-social housing units. 

In the year ended March 2016 we outperformed our peer group in both social and non-social units and the sector 
average for social units. This was due to the completion of 410 units, 266 social and 144 non-social, across five 
separate schemes in this financial year.
 

In the following year, March 2017, the number of units we delivered fell to 121 with just 7 social housing units across 
two scheme phase completions. In this financial year, March 2018, the number of units delivered falls to 73 units of 
which 49 are private and 24 social housing. 

It is important to note that this performance is in line with our business plan and is due to the nature and timing of the 
mixed tenure schemes we are committed to delivering. Further details on our plans for new homes are included in the 
new homes pipeline metric and the ‘investment in development and new business’ section below. 

We recognise that our gearing ratio is higher than our peers and the sector average. However, we are comfortable 
with our level of debt and we regularly stress test our business plan to ensure we have sufficient resilience to 
adverse changes in the economic climate and that our key loan covenants of interest cover and debt per unit are not 
compromised. Our level of gearing sees us striving to fully utilise our asset base, in a controlled and monitored way, 
to deliver our ambitious plans to increase housing supply as set out in our Corporate Strategy.

Our EBITDA MRI interest cover is broadly in line with our peers and the sector average but as noted above will 
fluctuate year-to-year in line with the volume and profitability of non-social housing unit sales. We are content that 
our underlying performance is strong and demonstrates our efficiency and effectiveness in delivering robust financial 
results.

Our headline social housing cost per unit is higher than our peers and the sector average. This is largely due to 
the calculation including costs attributable to our PFI contract where we manage over 1,300 homes for the London 
Borough of Newham. However, whilst the costs are included the homes we manage are excluded from the cost per 
unit calculation. If the PFI units were included in the March 2017 calculation our cost per unit would drop to £4,035, 
which is below our peer group average. 

Swan 
March 

2017

Swan 
March 

2016

Peer Average*
March 

2017

Sector Average*
March 

2017

1. Reinvestment % 2.4% 2.6% 6.4% 5.7%
2A. New supply delivered (Social housing 

units) %
0.1% 2.9% 2.0% 1.5%

2B. New supply delivered (non-social housing 
units) %

1.3% 1.6% 0.1% 0.1%

3. Gearing % 62.6% 63.8% 47.4% 44.9%
4. EBITDA MRI Interest Cover % 179.0% 213.7% 188.1% 169.6%
5. Headline social housing cost per unit 4,633 4,743 4,159 3,300
6A. Operating Margin (social housing lettings) 

%
51.1% 51.4% 41.6% 39.3%

6B. Operating margin (overall) % 28.4% 29.3% 37.7% 33.5%
7. Return on capital employed % 3.6% 4.2% 4.4% 4.3%

* Source: RSH/HCA Global Accounts - Consolidated Dataset 2017
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As well as the PFI our cost base also includes expenditure which supports the development of social and non-social 
housing units and property management. Whilst these activities generate a financial contribution to the business 
and consume resources, they are not related to the number of units in the cost per unit calculation. Total turnover for 
2017/18 was £91.1m, of which just £59.5m was generated by social housing units.

Our social housing lettings operating margin is better than our peers and the sector. Whilst an element of 
this performance is influenced by differing cost allocation methods our repairs and maintenance budgets are tightly 
controlled, whilst at the same time we strive to maintain all our stock over and above the Decent Homes Standard.

The overall operating margin is in line with the sector and slightly below our peer group. As noted above our 
margins fluctuate year-on-year due to our development programme. This also impacts our return on capital 
employed metric which was broadly in line with our peer group and the sector average in March 2016 but slightly 
lower in March 2017.

The ‘managing our finances’ section below provides further detail on the proactive steps we have taken to flex our 
cost base to mitigate the rent reductions and optimise our financial performance.

Other key metrics to support the delivery of our Corporate Strategy

New homes pipeline

Our pipeline of new homes is a key metric when monitoring our current Corporate Strategy which set a target of 2,000 
new homes between 2017 and 2022 and our vision to have an additional 10,000 homes by 2027.

As at March 2018 we had 853 units on site and in progress and our committed pipeline of new homes is 1,733 
of which 753 will be social housing units. We are on track to deliver the 2,000 units by 2022, in fact, when our 
uncommitted, joint venture and pipeline schemes are taken into account we have over 6,200 units in our pipeline.

Cumulative profits from commercial activities

The profits from our commercial activities are all reinvested and represent a key source of finance to deliver our plans. 
As noted above we have generated £65.4m from our commercial activities to date and a further £76.7m is forecast 
over the next three years.

Key loan covenants - debt per unit and interest cover

Our debt per unit and interest cover covenants are key to our business planning. Our current and planned covenant 
levels based on our committed development schemes demonstrate a minimum headroom of £40m against our most 
restrictive covenant.

Customer Satisfaction

We have continued to use Housemark to benchmark our performance against other housing providers so we can see 
how our performance compares, identify areas for improvement and set future targets. 

Committed Uncommitted Joint venture Pipeline Total

Social housing 220 153 - 314 687
Shared ownership 533 45 600 711 1,889

Non social housing 980 241 400 2,047 3,668
1,733 439 1,000 3,072 6,244
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We benchmarked our performance against the same peer group as previous years, this group consists of 27 similar 
providers in London and the East with units between 5,000 and 15,000.

The table below sets out our key satisfaction indicators for the last three years ended 31 March 2017 compared to this 
peer group (the top quartile reference relates to 2016-17):

Following the significant increase in our customer satisfaction results in 2015-16, overall satisfaction improved slightly 
during 2016-17, however relative to our peer group we moved from quartile 2 to quartile 3. We have introduced a 
number of measures aimed at improving satisfaction through our service improvement plan and we are targeting 
improvements in the coming the year.

Operational – Arrears and Voids

The table below sets out our key arrears and voids operational indicators for the last three years ended 31 March 
2017 compared to our Housemark peer group (the top quartile reference relates to 2016-17):

Customer satisfaction 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Top Quartile 
Performance

Satisfaction with overall services provided 74.6% 83.3% 84.3% 91.2%
Satisfaction with how we deal with repairs 65.8% 74.3% 71.1% 88.5%
Satisfied that we listen to views and act on them 56.9% 66.6% 61.8% 80.4%
Satisfaction with quality of home 78.8% 86.1% 84.8% 89.5%
Satisfied that rent provides VfM 71.3% 77.1% 80.4% 90.6%
Complainants satisfied with outcome 67.9% 67.9% 64.2% 87.2%
Satisfied with ASB case outcome 75.8% 70.0% 65.5% 87.2%

Operational 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Top Quartile 
Performance

Arrears as % of rent due 2.9% 2.8% 2.4% 1.8%
Former tenant arrears as % of rent due 0.5% 0.4% 0.5% 0.9%
% of rent collected (incl former tenants) 99.5% 99.8% 100.8% 100.5%
Days taken to relet operational voids 18.2 16.9 13.6 19.9
Properties vacant and available to let 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.2%

Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4

Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4

Quartile Key:

Quartile Key:

Our performance is consistently strong compared to our peers. Our rent collections and arrears have shown year-
on-year improvements and we continue to invest in this area to mitigate the impact of welfare reforms including 
Universal Credit. Our voids performance for vacant properties and relet times are both quartile 1. Our operational 
relet performance has shown significant improvements over the last three years as we strive to work closely with local 
authority partners to reduce waiting lists.

Employee engagement – Sunday Times Top 100

We recognise that retaining and recruiting the best staff is crucial for us to deliver our Corporate Strategy. We have 
continued to invest in our leadership training and have successfully launched our better ways of working initiative 
which has seen the roll out of new technology to facilitate a business-led, more agile approach to working.

We measure the engagement of our staff through the Sunday Times Top 100 Best Not-for-Profit Organisations to 
work for. We were delighted to reach number 22 this year, up from 34 last year.

During the next year we will continue to benchmark our performance against our peers, complete service reviews 
on income collection and customer interactions/communication and seek to maintain our performance where we 
continue to outperform the majority of our peers.
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Maximising our return on assets

Three strategies; the Asset Management Strategy, the Portfolio Management Strategy and the Group Investment 
Strategy are key to how we approach managing our stock and maximising the return on the properties we own as 
follows:

• our Asset Management Strategy sets the course for how we will maintain and improve our existing 
housing stock over the next five years to ensure that they are safe, free from hazard and of a high 
standard. 

• stock condition surveys ensure that our integrated asset management database, Keystone, is up to 
date so we can target our investment spend

• we measure the ‘return on assets’ from our existing housing stock at a headline level and at the 
level of individual property as one way of assessing the current financial performance of our 
housing stock.    

The table below sets out the return achieved on our main stock types, all of which are in line with expectation as our 
base rental income has fallen due to the rent reduction of 1% that was introduced in the Government’s July 2015 
budget and the General Needs surplus is net of a £3.2m provision to replace the cladding on two schemes containing 
aluminium composite material (ACM).  

2017/18

Operating 
Surplus

Value of Assets* Return on 
Assets %

£’000 £’000
General needs 24,127 575,862 4.2%
Shared ownership 1,099 52,148 2.1%
NHS keyworker 1,170 45,912 2.5%

2016/17

Operating 
Surplus

Value of Assets* Return on 
Assets %

£’000 £’000
27,987 574,473 4.9%

1,217 50,861 2.4%
1,719 47,215 3.6%

Return on assets

*Value of assets based on UK GAAP including FRS102 net book value which is cost less depreciation and excluding grant received

• our Portfolio Management Strategy provides a framework within which decisions can be made on stock 
rationalisation.  

• We use Savills’ Asset Project Evaluation Model (APEM) to appraise our housing stock so we can understand the 
net present value (NPV) for each of our properties and make informed decisions about whether to dispose, swap, 
change tenure type etc. 

During the next year we intend to conclude our stock rationalisation process for circa 20 units and continue our 
programme to maintain 100% decent homes and achieve our energy efficiency targets.

Effective procurement

Our Procurement Strategy ensures that we deliver VfM as follows:

• by following our procurement programme we ensure that the services we procure are economic, efficient and 
effective.

• all standard repairs and maintenance to our housing stock is delivered by Axis Europe under a long term 
partnership which allows for longer-term service planning and a commitment to continuous improvement in both 
service delivery and efficiency. 

During the year our re-procurement activity has focused on the following areas:

• Mobile phones have been procured for a one year period at an estimated saving of £15k. A shorter period has 
been agreed so we can assess our requirements, particularly for data, as we implement our digital transformation 
actions and a more agile way of working.

• External audit services which after a full retender process resulted in the reappointment of Grant Thornton UK 
LLP at a fixed price for the current scope of work for the next three years.
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Looking back (savings gained)

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

£ £ £
Housing/Repairs and 
Maintenance

197,306 192,527 217,461

Facilities 
Maintenance/Utilities

31,500 66,745 45,752

Back office (IT/
Insurance/H&S)

331,263 246,400 194,887

Total 560,069 505,672 458,100

Projecting forward (anticipated savings)

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£ £ £
221,113 224,947 184,544

40,000 10,000 10,000

208,697 222,852 -

469,809 457,798 194,544

Total savings

£
1,237,896

203,997

1,204,099

2,645,992

In 2018/19 we plan to:

• introduce new procurement and supplier management software
• procure construction supply chain services utilising dynamic purchasing arrangements
• re-procure the following services:

o office cleaning
o corporate workwear
o consultants framework
o legal services
o recruitment services

Managing our finances

We have the following processes in place to manage our finances:

• we have a zero-based approach to budget setting so we ensure our spending plans for the year 
ahead are aligned to our corporate strategy and operational plans  

• performance against budget is reviewed monthly with budget holders ensuring robust financial 
control

• we have performance reports and balance scorecards for each of our key activities covering a 
variety of key performance indicators

• value for money is embedded across the organisation.  This allowed us to respond positively to 
mitigate the impact of the 1% rent reduction and the ongoing roll out of Universal Credit 

In 2017/18 the Group has maintained the £1.25m of 
operational savings delivered in 2016/17. 

We also secured a further £1.7m of savings towards the 
£10m of efficiencies targeted from our development and 
regeneration activities, taking the cumulative savings in 
this area to £5.1m.

£1m challenge - savings secured and delivered in 2016/17 £10m capital challenge - cumulative savings secured 
from 2016/17 to 2017/18

The table below sets out our procurement savings over the last three years and anticipated savings going forward. 
During 2017/18 savings of £458k were achieved. 

Team 
restructures

Repairs & 
maintenance

Zurich 
House

Consultancy IT Housing 
Operations

Total savings

£1.40 £8.00m

£1.20 £7.00m

£1.00 £6.00m

£0.80 £5.00m

£0.60
£4.00m

£0.40
£3.00m

£1.40
£2.00m

£1.40
£1.00m
£0.00m

Savings 
realised 
2016/17

East 
India Dock 
(2017/18)

Craylands 
1CF 

(2017/18)

Repton 
Court P2 
(2017/18)

Oldchurch 
Park 

(2017/18)

Cumulative 
Savings 

2016/17 + 
2017/18

£1.25m

£5.1m
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During the next year we will maintain the £1m operational savings and realise further savings to maintain our progress 
towards achieving the target of £10m of savings / additional income from our development and regeneration activities 
so we can continue to mitigate the impact of the 1% rent reduction.  

Planning our funding

Our Treasury Strategy, Group Investment Strategy and Business Planning process ensures that:

• we have a standardised approach to appraising projects across the Group so projects can be 
appraised and on a consistent basis

• we understand our future funding requirements so we can allocate resources to deliver our 
Corporate Strategy as effectively as possible by minimising borrowing costs and our exposure to 
the risks of refinancing and interest rate rises 

• through scenario testing we understand the risks we are exposed to across the Group and have 
plans in place to mitigate the impact should those risks materialise

• we can generate new resources from our commercial businesses to reinvest in our housing stock, 
new homes and the services we provide

• we have performance reports and balance scorecards for each of our key activities covering a 
variety of key performance indicators

Investment in development and new business

We see investment in our development and new business activities as a key part of our Corporate Strategy.  Through this activity 
we are able to meet unmet housing need across all tenure types and generate additional resources to support our ambitions.

During the last year we:

• secured a further £0.4m of grant funding and generated £5.9m of profit from our commercial 
activities

• invested £65.9m in development and regeneration activities, handing over 24 new social and 
affordable homes and 49 for private sale

• produced the first units from our off-site manufacturing facility
• secured pre-sales of circa 60% of our Blackwall Reach and Cambridge Road schemes
• completed the Repton Court scheme

Our development programme, specifically the private sales of new build homes, generates profits which are transferred to Swan 
Housing Association via Gift Aid.  These resources are reinvested in the provision of new homes and ensure that our development 
programme is sustainable.

During the next year we will generate £19m from our commercial activities, invest £154m on our development and regeneration 
activities, build 236 shared ownership, 59 affordable and 158 private sale homes and start on site on the Watts Grove, Laindon 
and Beechwood Village projects.

Improving our services through resident and service user involvement

Our customers are at the heart of everything we do.  Our Social Value and Engagement Strategy sets out our 
commitment to resident involvement, developing sustainable communities and meeting our Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR objectives). This strategy and our performance improvement framework ensures that we:

• understand our customer priorities and involve them in the decision-making process 
• provide a range of community development activities to help break down and remove barriers to 

effective engagement
• have detailed review of services and a process through our London and Essex Resident Consultative 

Committees (RCCs) for residents to set priorities, challenge performance and participate in 
decision-making

• help individuals to access employment opportunities, training and financial support to mitigate the 
impact of welfare reform

• test the social return on investment (SROI) for our community development activity
• have a framework for continual service improvement 



34 Swan Housing Association Limited Annual Report 2018

Value for Money (VfM) Summary Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionValue for Money (VfM) Summary

During the next year we intend to:

• review our housing management processes for effectiveness and efficiency
• review our supported housing provision
• identify appropriate services for online self service

Conclusion and self-assessment

We understand that value for money should be considered in the context of meeting an organisation’s objectives. As 
such the Group is purposely structured to best deliver our mission “to deliver effective services, enterprising solutions 
and exemplary homes and communities”.

We have a clear set of strategic objectives as set out in our vision and Corporate Strategy. These objectives inform 
our operational plans, decision-making processes and our strategy and policy framework.  

We have a robust approach to decision-making as set out in our Group Investment Strategy, which we apply to all of 
our activities and allows us to compare risk and return. We monitor our performance through action plans, monthly 
reports, balanced scorecards and key performance indicators. This ensures that VfM is embedded throughout our 
operational activity and decision making processes. We regularly compare our costs and performance against others 
to identify where efficiencies could be found, or services improved.

Customers have a key role to play in this process. The feedback they provide, and formal engagement at Board level 
and through the Scrutiny Panel and Resident Consultative Committees, helps to set our priorities.

Our commercial subsidiaries gift aid profits to the housing association. In doing so they help to support value-added 
services that might not otherwise be delivered, at the same time as increasing affordable housing and regenerating 
communities.

We have a detailed understanding of the financial and social returns on the Group’s assets, and assess the financial 
performance and sustainability of housing stock so that alternative delivery options that potentially offer better value 
can be considered.

Swan’s financial performance is sound and the Group take a prudent approach to managing finances and planning 
funding. 

We have responded positively to changes in the operating environment, delivering the savings identified and targeted 
to mitigate the impact of these changes. Through our procurement activity we strive to achieve VfM. Over £1m of 
savings are forecast over the next three years, which will be reinvested in front line services, delivering new homes 
and maintaining the quality of the existing housing stock. 

As a consequence of the evidence set out in this self-assessment Swan’s Board believes it 
fulfils the requirements of the Value for Money Standard.
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Throughout the year the Parent Board comprised 
eight members, six of which are Non-Executive Board 
Members and the balance Swan Executive Directors. 
As a consequence of an external review of the Swan 
Group’s Governance arrangements undertaken during 
the prior year certain changes  were adopted from 1 April 
2017, which are explained further in the relevant sections 
below. 

The Board continues to apply the National Housing 
Federation’s 2015 Governance Code: Promoting 
Board Excellence for Housing Associations and the 
National Housing Federation’s 2012 Code of Conduct.  
In accordance with the underlying “comply or explain” 
principle of such codes, this section of the report seeks to 
provide detail about:

• The Board and its Role
• Board Effectiveness
• Relations with Stakeholders
• How the Board Operates

The Board is committed to adherence to such codes and 
to high standards of conduct. Following its regular review, 
it can again report compliance with the codes during the 
year. 

The Board and its Role

Swan Housing Association Limited is a Registered 
Society under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014. The Rules of the Association, remain 
its principal document of constitution and regulate 
various matters including the Board, its powers and its 
role. The Board has adopted Standing Orders, Scheme 
of Delegations and Financial Regulations and has in 
place Committee Terms of Reference and an intra-Group 
agreement to further formalise and regulate matters 
between the Parent, and the Group’s Committees and 
subsidiaries. A formal review of these documents took 
place during the year as part of the governance review 
and some minor amendments have been made.

The Board’s role is to provide strategic direction and to 
govern, control and scrutinise the Association’s and the 
Group’s operations. At the year end, the Board comprised 
six shareholder members and two Executive Director 
members. Changes in Board membership during the year 
are detailed on page 4 of these Financial Statements. 
As a consequence of the governance review and with a 
view to ensuring the main Board’s attention and time is 
best utilised and a structural solution to potential conflicts 
of interest between group entities, the non-executive 
board members resigned from the Boards of the 
subsidiaries of Swan Housing Association Limited (with 
the exception of Swan New Homes Limited with effect 
from 1 April 2017). In April 2017 Alan Palmer resigned 
from the Board of Swan Housing Association Limited 

and became an independent Chair of Swan New Homes 
Limited and Parmjit Dhanda resigned from the Board of 
Swan New Homes Limited. In January 2018, Alan and 
Parmjit resigned all appointments with the Swan group 
of companies as part of the process of Board renewal  
and Steve Akeju and Simon Harden joined the Board of 
Swan Housing Association. Additionally, Sheila Lewis has 
resigned from the Board of Swan New Homes Limited 
and Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs has resigned from the 
Board of Swan Housing Association Limited and became 
an independent Chair of Swan New Homes Limited.      

The Board and its Committees comprise members from a 
diverse range of backgrounds and with the range of skills, 
knowledge and experiences appropriate for their needs.  
Membership of the Board and its mix of skills, knowledge 
and experience remains appropriate for the Group’s 
needs. Profiles of the non-executive Board members can 
be viewed on the Association’s website 
(www.swan.org.uk).  

Board membership is usually for two three-year terms 
with a further three-year extension possible only in 
exceptional circumstances.  

Board members have formal service agreements, are 
expected to devote the necessary time to prepare for 
and attend all Board meetings and the meetings of those 
Committees of which they are members, together with 
appropriate training, appraisal and other review meetings. 
Members are paid as detailed in the Board Remuneration 
section below. 

The Group maintains Directors’ and Officers’ liability 
insurance for its Board members and officers, which 
is renewed annually. The Board is given access to 
independent professional advice at the Group’s expense 
when the Board so requires.

Board Effectiveness

The Board receives regular updates on the performance 
of the Group’s businesses, the legal and the regulatory 
environments in which they operate and developments in 
their sectors through briefings included in Board papers 
or other presentations.

The Board completed its annual review of combined and 
individual member performance during the year. The 
outcomes from this process have been captured on the 
Board’s action plan. Progress will be closely monitored by 
the Board. The Board from time to time gathers together 
for training and development activity and to consider 
wider issues such as succession planning. Individual 
members may undertake training or development activity 
as identified by them or in their annual evaluations.  

The Board tours locations of the Group, enabling it to 
meet tenants and other service users, at least annually, 
and any new Board or Committee members have already 

Corporate Governance

Value for Money (VfM) Summary Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionReport of the Board
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Relations with Stakeholders

The principal stakeholders of the Group are its tenants, 
service users, employees, local authorities, the Greater 
London Authority, the Homes and Communities Agency 
(HCA) (which is now known as the Regulator of Social 
Housing in respect of its regulatory activity and Homes 
England in respect of its investment activity) and funders. 
Tenants are now represented through the Board’s 
Operations Committee, the responsibilities of which are 
detailed below in the section How the Board Operates. 
The operations of the Association are regulated primarily 
by the Regulator of Social Housing (formerly the HCA) 
but also in part by the Care Quality Commission, and the 
Board pays particular interest to regulatory reporting. As 
noted above, occasionally the Board has the opportunity 
to meet tenants and service users and obtains feedback 
from various tenant-facing bodies including the Resident 
Scrutiny Panel, which is not a Committee of the Board. 

Relations with employees are managed through 
the Executive Directors and through an Employee 
Representative Committee. Relations with funders are 
also primarily managed through the Executive Directors. 

undertaken, or will be undertaking, this tour as part of 
their induction process.

Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionReport of the Board

Swan Housing 
Association 
Main Board

Operations 
Committee

Development 
& New 

Business 
Committee

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Remuneration  
& 

Appointments
Committee

Valerie Owen OBE (Chair) 6/6 - - - 1/1
Sheila Lewis 5/6 - 5/5 1/1 1/1
Peter Baynham 6/6 - - 5/5 1/1
Marie Li Mow Ching 5/6 4/4 - - 1/1
John Synnuck 6/6 - - - -
Jamie Smith 6/6 - - - -
Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs (resigned 
31/1/18)

4/5 0/1 3/4 - 1/1

Parmjit Dhanda (resigned 
31/1/2018)

4/5 3/3 - - -

Steve Akeju (appointed 1/1/18) 1/1 - - - 1/1
Simon Harden (appointed 1/1/18) 1/1 - - - 1/1

How the Board Operates

The Board’s Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegations, 
Code of Conduct and Financial Regulations codify 
various matters for the better operation of the Group’s 
business and within which it expressly reserves specified 
significant matters for its sole decision. The Board meets 
regularly and has established a number of Committees 
to which the Board has delegated certain responsibilities 
under formal Terms of Reference.  The Board also meets 
with the Executive Directors regularly during the year.

The Board has continued to meet bi-monthly during the 
year. The Committees, other than the Remuneration and 
Appointments Committee, have also met five times each.  
The meetings held during the year and the attendance 
of individual members at each is detailed below. Each 
entry is displayed as a fraction which has the number 
of meetings actually attended as the numerator and the 
number of meetings held and which could have been 
attended as the denominator.

Board and Committee members have online access to 
all papers for the appropriate meetings and hence can 
access them even if they have made notification that 
they are unable to attend.  Membership of Committees 
will continue to be reviewed and determined annually. 
Committee appointments involve non-Board members. 
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A brief overview of the constitution of the Committees 
is given below. Other panels and working groups are 
formed as considered appropriate to deal with particular 
issues as they arise.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of four members, 
two of which are Board members and two independent. 
It plans to meet at least four times per year. It receives 
reports from the external and internal auditors and 
reviews the processes for audit and risk management. It 
is chaired by a member of the Board who is not the Chair 
of the Board of Swan Housing Association.

Remuneration and Appointments Committee

This Committee comprises all the non-executive Board 
members.  It continues to meet at least annually and 
considers Board structure and appointments, the working 
arrangements and remuneration of the Board, Chief 
Executive and Executive Directors. It is chaired by a 
member of the Board who is not the Chair of the Board of 
Swan Housing Association.

Operations Committee

The Operations Committee focuses on all aspects of 
the effective and efficient operational delivery of the 
Group’s services, ensuring feedback from tenants and 
other service users and promoting high standards. The 
Committee comprises eight members, two from the main 
Board, four tenants and two independents. It meets at 
least four times per year.

Glyn Kyle - 4/4 - - -
Peter Brooks - 4/4 - - -
Darren Coan - 3/4 - - -
Michelle Richards - 4/4 - - -
Gideon Amos - - 3/5 - -
Ralph Luck - - 3/5 - -
Aleksandra Morshed - 3/4 - - -
Doug McCann - - - 5/5 -
Kobirul Islam - 4/4 - - -
Hugh Titcomb - - - 4/5 -

Simon Hardwick - - 5/5 - -

Alan Palmer (resigned 31/1/18) - - - 4/4 -

Committee members who are not Board members:

Report of the BoardStrategic ReportChair’s IntroductionReport of the Board

Development and New Business Committee 

This Committee oversees the Group’s development of 
new homes and explores and oversees new business 
streams or initiatives, outside the core Association 
housing rental and care service businesses, and 
other special projects. The Committee comprises 
five members, two from the main Board and three 
independents. It meets at least four times per year.

Declarations of Interest

All Board and Committee members are required to 
declare any interests annually and otherwise at meetings 
where potential issues may arise. 

Individuals with a relevant interest are required to leave 
the meeting, unless requested otherwise by the Board/
Committee membership, and in any event do not vote on 
the issue concerned.

Board Remuneration

The Board has determined, following independent advice 
and benchmarking, that it is appropriate, and continues 
to be appropriate, that Board members should be paid for 
their time and dedication. 

Committee members who are not Board members also 
receive fees for their services. The annual fees paid to 
Board members in position during the year are set out 
below. In addition, Board members are reimbursed for 
any expenses incurred in carrying out their duties and in 
attending Board or Committee meetings. 

The remuneration of those Board members who are also 
Executive Directors is included in note 5 to the financial 
statements.

Swan Housing 
Association 
Main Board

Operations 
Committee

Development 
& New 

Business 
Committee

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Remuneration  
& 

Appointments
Committee
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Board members: £

Valerie Owen OBE (Chair) 20,000
Peter Baynham (Vice Chair) 13,500
Sheila Lewis 10,000
Marie Li Mow Ching 10,000
Alan Palmer (resigned 1/4/17) -
Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs (resigned 31/1/18) 10,000
Parmjit Dhanda (resigned 31/1/18) 8,333
Steve Akeju (appointed 1/1/18) 2,355
Simon Harden (appointed 1/1/18) 2,500
Board Members Total 76,688

Committee members who are not Board members:

Glyn Kyle 5,000
Peter Brooks 5,000
Darren Coan 5,000
Michelle Richards 5,000
Gideon Amos 5,000
Ralph Luck 5,000
Doug McCann 5,000
Alexsandra Morshed 5,000
Simon Hardwick 5,000
Kobirul Islam 5,000
Hugh Titcomb 5,000
Alan Palmer (resigned 31/1/18) 8,333
Committee Members Total: 63,333

Total 140,021

The total amount paid above represents 0.1% (2017: 0.1%) of the Group 
annual turnover.
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Board’s statement on the annual review of 
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control systems

The Board has continued to place emphasis on the 
HCA’s Regulatory Framework which has applied since 
April 2015. Various reports received by the Board 
provide it with assurance that the three Economic and 
four Consumer standards laid out in the Framework are 
met. Further work has been undertaken on stress testing 
our business plan during the year to provide assurance 
that key risks are being appropriately managed. The 
Group’s G1/V2 Governance and Financial Viability ratings 
from the Social Housing Regulator were reconfirmed in 
November 2017.

Statement of Compliance

In accordance with the requirements of the Accounting 
Direction for private registered providers of social housing 
(2015), the Board certify that Swan Housing Association 
Limited has complied with the HCA’s Governance and 
Financial Viability standard, and continues to explore 

ways to streamline and improve the means by which 
it receives assurance, including for example by the 
introduction of a centralised compliance calendar 
covering the many recurring legal, regulatory and other 
reporting obligations of the Group.

In preparing the Strategic Report and this Report of the 
Board, the Board has followed the principles set out in 
the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for 
registered social housing providers (SORP 2014).

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility, 
applicable to all organisations within the Group, for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system of internal 
control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and to provide reasonable 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.  

The process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group is ongoing, has 
been in place throughout the period commencing 1 April 
2017 up to the date of approval of the report and financial 
statements.

Key elements of the framework include:

• Board approved terms of reference and 
delegated authorities for Board committees

• clearly defined management responsibilities 
for the identification, evaluation and control of 
significant risks

• robust strategic and business planning 
processes, with detailed financial budgets and 
forecasts

• formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff

• established authorisation and appraisal 
procedures for significant new initiatives and 
commitments

• a sophisticated approach to treasury 
management which is subject to review each 
year

• regular reporting to the appropriate committee 
on key business objectives, targets and outcomes

• Board approved whistleblowing, anti-bribery, 
anti-theft and corruption policies

• Board approved anti-fraud policies, covering 
prevention, detection and reporting, together 
with recoverability of assets

• regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities.

The Group currently has various systems in place to 
record its assets and liabilities. We have undertaken 
further work on the asset and liabilities register during the 
year to fully integrate it into our processes and systems 
so that it is kept up to date and becomes part of the way 
we work. Our internal auditors, RSM Risk Assurance 
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Services LLP, have reviewed the register providing further 
assurance to the Board.

Audit Committee  

The Board has a designated Group Audit and Risk 
Committee. The meetings are attended by the Deputy 
Chief Executive, Senior Finance Staff and other Directors 
as required.

This Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems 
of internal controls and reporting its conclusions to the 
Board, receiving reports from both the internal and 
external auditors.
  

Internal Audit Function

The Group purchases an internal audit service. This work 
has been carried out in accordance with the Institute of 
Internal Auditors’ Standards and Guidance.

The internal auditor reports annually to the Group Audit 
and Risk Committee on the system of internal controls, 
with an opinion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of 
key internal control systems. The internal auditor attends 
the Group Audit and Risk Committee to present reports 
and to report on management progress in implementing 
agreed recommendations.  

The internal audit is planned, based on the results of 
an Audit Needs Assessment.  A rolling programme is 
undertaken to cover the whole of the Group’s system of 
control.

External Audit

The work of the external auditor has been conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
and their audit opinion is contained within these financial 
statements. 

The terms of engagement of the external auditor provides 
that weaknesses in the structure of accounting systems 
and internal controls; inappropriate accounting policies 
and practices including non-compliance with legislation, 
accounting standards and other regulations would be 
highlighted if identified as part of the normal audit work.

Any material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in 
internal controls identified are reported to the Group Audit 
and Risk Committee and an action plan to address the 
weakness is agreed. No serious control weaknesses 
have been identified this year.

Auditor

The auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP, will be deemed to 
be reappointed in accordance with section 93 of the Co-
Operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.

Health and Safety 

The health and safety of our staff and residents continues 

to be of paramount importance.  Staff completion of 
mandatory courses around health and safety, regular 
meetings of our cross-Group Health and Safety 
Committee and our executive level Health and Safety 
Committee chaired by the Chief Executive, together with 
the use of the award-winning Safety Bank software, have 
all continued to support a culture of health and safety 
across the Group. The Board review health and safety at 
every meeting and receive a formal update report every 
six months that considers matters such as accidents and 
incidents, fire safety and servicing compliance. 

Following the Grenfell Fire, and in addition to the 
various fire safety measures already in place, the Group 
undertook a review of the fire safety measures on all 
properties over five storeys. We have put in place various 
measures to reassure residents and have followed all of 
the advice issued by the Department for Communities 
and Local Government. Two of our developments have 
limited amounts of aluminium composite material (ACM).  
We are working with the contractors who installed the 
cladding on a programme to remove and replace the 
materials and we anticipate starting on site this coming 
financial year. A £3.2m (2017: £nil) provision has been 
made for the expected future work in this financial year.

Equality and Diversity

We remain signatories to the Chartered Institute of 
Housing’s 10 ‘Leading Diversity by 2020’ challenges. 

In June 2016, the Housing Diversity Network (HDN) 
awarded us with their Diversity Network Accreditation for 
excellence in equality and diversity with five distinctions 
for good practice including:

• Diverse leadership with high awareness and 
demonstrable commitment to equality and 
diversity from the Board; 

• Executive and senior managers with a proactive 
approach to emerging issues;

• Board diversity; and
• Inclusive and positive organisational culture, 

where staff are engaged and feel supported and 
valued.

As at March 2018:

• 42% of our Board and Executive Team and 60% of 
our total workforce were women.

• 25% of our Board and Executive Team and 23% of 
our total workforce were BAME (Black / Asian / 
Minority Ethnic)

• The age profile of our total workforce shows 53% 
were aged 25 to 44, with 39% aged 45 and over 
and 8% under 25. 

• The age profile of the Board and Executive team 
showed 67% aged 45 to 64, 25% over 65 and 8% 
aged 25 to 44.
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for preparing the report and 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Co-Operative and Community Benefit Society legislation 
requires the Board to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law the Board have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and 
applicable laws, including FRS102, “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland”). Under the Co-Operative and Community 
Benefit Society legislation the Board must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and 
surplus or deficit of the Association and Group for that 
period. In preparing these financial statements, the Board 
are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently

• make judgments and accounting estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards and the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP) Accounting by Registered 
Housing Providers Update 2014, have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Group and Association will 
continue in business.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Group and Association 
and enable it to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Co-Operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing (April 2015). It is also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Board members are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Group’s websites. Legislation in 
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Approved by the Board on 12 July 2018 and signed on 
its behalf by:       

In so far as each of the Board members is aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which 
the Group’s auditors are unaware; and

• the Board members have taken all steps that 
they ought to have taken to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the auditor is aware of that 
information.
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We have audited the financial statements of Swan 
Housing Association Limited (the ‘Parent Society’) and 
its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 March 
2018 which comprise the Consolidated and Association 
Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated 
and Association Statements of Changes in Reserves, the 
Consolidated and Association Statements of Financial 
Position, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards including Financial Reporting Standard 102; 
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
Group’s and Parent Society’s affairs as at 31 
March 2018 and of the Group’s and Parent 
Society’s income and expenditure for the year 
then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008, and the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of 
Social Housing 2015.

Basis for opinion

We have been appointed as auditor under the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 
and report in accordance with regulations made under 
that Act.  We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Society 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Who we are reporting to

This report is made solely to the Society’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with regulations made 
under Sections 87 and 98(7) of the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the Society’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Society and the Society’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

• the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the Board has not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s 
or Parent Society’s ability to continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date 
when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue.

Other information

The Board is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the Annual Report, set out on pages 3 to 40 other than 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our 
audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are required 
to determine whether there is a material misstatement 
in the financial statements or a material misstatement 
of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

• a satisfactory system of control over 
transactions has not been maintained; or

Opinion
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• the Parent Society has not kept proper 
accounting records; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the books of account; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit.

Responsibilities of the Board for the 
financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Board’s 
Responsibilities set out on page 40, the Board is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, 
and for such internal control as the Board determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is 
responsible for assessing the Group’s and Parent 
Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board either intend to liquidate the Group 
or Parent Society or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.

Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionIndependent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Cambridge, England
1 August 2018

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Valerie Owen OBE
Chair

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Sue McBride
Company Secretary

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 12 July 2018 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Notes 2018

£’000

2017

£’000

Turnover 3 91,118 101,617
Operating costs 3 (65,836) (72,186)
Operating surplus 3 25,282 29,431

Share of loss from joint venture 15 (2) -
Surplus/(deficit) on sale of fixed assets (non-operational) 7 825 (602)
Interest receivable 8 587 154
Interest payable and similar charges 9 (16,007) (16,238)
Movement in fair value of financial instruments 19 4,956 (4,574)
Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 10 15,641 8,171

Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 11 (1,136) (1,133)
Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation being 
comprehensive income for the year

14,505 7,038

Report of the BoardStrategic ReportChair’s IntroductionConsolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Valerie Owen OBE
Chair

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Sue McBride
Company Secretary

The Association’s results relate wholly to continuing activities.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 12 July 2018 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Notes 2018

£’000

2017

£’000

Turnover 3 75,609 80,569
Operating costs 3 (50,319) (45,241)
Operating surplus 3 25,290 35,328

Surplus/(deficit) on sale of fixed assets (non-operational) 7 825 (602)
Interest receivable 8 1,455 1,490

Interest payable and similar charges 9 (17,257) (17,598)
Movement in fair value of financial instruments 19 4,956 (4,574)
Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 10 15,269 14,044

Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 11 - -
Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation being 
comprehensive income for the year

15,269 14,044

Report of the BoardStrategic ReportChair’s IntroductionAssociation Statement of Comprehensive Income

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R
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Share capital

£’000

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve
£’000

Revaluation 
reserve

£’000

Total

£’000

Balance as at 1 April 2016 - 27,196 174,994 202,190

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

- 7,038 - 7,038

Tax relieved by Gift Aid payment from 
2016 profits

- 2,091 - 2,091

Movement in capitalised interest - 361 - 361
Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
income and expenditure reserve

- 4,926 (4,926) -

Balance as at 31 March 2017 - 41,612 170,068 211,680

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

- 14,505 - 14,505

Tax relieved by Gift Aid payment from 
2017 profits

- 906 - 906

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
income and expenditure reserve

- 2,151 (2,151) -

Balance as at 31 March 2018 - 59,174 167,917 227,091

Share capital

£’000

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve
£’000

Revaluation 
reserve

£’000

Total

£’000

Balance as at 1 April 2016 - 24,240 174,994 199,234

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

- 14,044 - 14,044

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
income and expenditure reserve

- 4,926 (4,926) -

Balance as at 31 March 2017 - 43,210 170,068 213,278

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

- 15,269 - 15,269

Transfer from revaluation reserve to 
income and expenditure reserve

- 2,151 (2,151) -

Balance as at 31 March 2018 - 60,630 167,917 228,547

Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionConsolidated Statement of Changes In Reserves

Association Statement of Changes in Reserves
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Note 2018

£’000

2017

£’000

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 12 1,250 688
Tangible fixed assets - housing properties 13 720,776 690,246
Other tangible fixed assets 14 6,979 4,284
Investment in joint venture 15 14,987 -

743,992 695,218

Current assets

Stock and properties held for sale 16 107,081 60,848
Debtors due within one year 17a 7,670 4,841
Debtors due after one year 17b 30,287 31,617
Cash at bank and in hand 13,678 37,346

158,716 134,652

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (47,223) (38,188)
Net current assets 111,493 96,464

Total assets less current liabilities 855,485 791,682

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (625,194) (580,002)
Provision for liabilities 20 (3,200) -
Total net assets 227,091 211,680

Capital and reserves -
Share capital 21 - -
Income and expenditure reserve 59,174 41,612
Revaluation reserve 167,917 170,068
Total capital and reserves 227,091 211,680

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 12 July 2018 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Valerie Owen OBE
Chair

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Sue McBride
Company Secretary

Report of the BoardStrategic ReportChair’s IntroductionConsolidated Statement of Financial Position

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 12 July 2018 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Valerie Owen OBE
Chair

John Synnuck
Chief Executive

Sue McBride
Company Secretary

Note 2018

£’000

2017

£’000

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets 12 616 -
Tangible fixed assets - housing properties 13 726,296 695,239
Other tangible fixed assets 14 4,730 4,279
Investment 15 33,011 16,611

764,653 716,129

Current assets

Properties held for sale 16 17,775 13,245
Debtors due within one year 17a 14,084 3,318
Debtors due after one year 17b 28,904 30,834
Cash at bank and in hand 9,577 34,003

70,340 81,400

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (25,636) (20,458)
Net current assets 44,704 60,942

Total assets less current liabilities 809,357 777,071

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (577,610) (563,793)
Provision for liabilities 20 (3,200) -
Total net assets 228,547 213,278

Capital and reserves

Share capital 21 - - 
Income and expenditure reserve 60,630 43,210
Revaluation reserve 167,917 170,068
Total capital and reserves 228,547 213,278

Strategic ReportChair’s IntroductionAssociation Statement of Financial Position

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R
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Note 2018

£’000

2017

£’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from operations A 12,236 42,751
Corporation Tax paid (227) -

12,009 42,751

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (41,658) (18,345)
Purchase of intangible fixed assets (616) -
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 4,034 7,305
Investment in joint venture (9,996) -
Subsequent loans to joint venture (4,532) -
Grants received 350 754
Interest received 112 154

(52,306) (10,132)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (19,339) (16,215)
New secured loans 38,210 79,467
Repayments of borrowing (2,242) (73,378)

16,629 (10,126)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (23,668) 22,493
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 37,346 14,853

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13,678 37,346

2018

£’000

2017

£’000

Surplus for the year 14,505 7,038
Add back non-cash items:
Depreciation 7,794 7,657
Amortisation 70 -
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (1,499) 12,412
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 24,656 (2,955)
(Surplus)/deficit on sale of housing assets (825) 602
Interest payable 16,007 16,238
Interest received (586) (154)
Tax payable 1,136 1,133
Movement in fair value of financial instruments (4,956) 4,574
Movement in stock and properties for sale (44,066) (3,794)
Cash generated from operations 12,236 42,751

Report of the BoardStrategic ReportChair’s IntroductionConsolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Note A to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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The financial statements of the Group and Association 
have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (‘UK GAAP’) including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 (‘FRS102’) and the 
Statement of Recommended Practice for Registered 
Social Landlords 2014 (Housing SORP) and comply with 
the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing 2015.

The financial statements are presented in sterling and 
rounded to the nearest thousand (£‘000).

Disclosure exemptions

The individual accounts of Swan Housing Association 
Limited have adopted the following disclosure 
exemptions:

1. The requirement to present a statement of cash flows 
and related notes as it is the parent of the Swan 
Housing Group which prepares publicly available 
consolidated financial statements and the Company 
is included in the consolidation;

2. Financial instrument disclosures, including the 
categories of financial instrument; items of income, 
expense, gains or losses relating to financial 
instruments and exposure to and management of 
financial risks; and

3. From disclosing the Association key management 
personnel compensation.

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, its current financial 
position and factors likely to affect its future development 
are set out within the Strategic Report. The Group 
has long-term debt facilities in place which provide 
adequate resources to finance committed regeneration 
and development projects, along with the Group’s day-
to-day operations. The Group also has a long-term 
business plan which shows that it is able to service these 
debt facilities whilst continuing to comply with lenders’ 
covenants.

On this basis, the Board has a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a 
period of at least twelve months after the date on which 
the report and financial statements are signed. For this 
reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
the financial statements.

Basis of accounting

Significant judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that impact the amounts reported for assets 
and liabilities at the Statement of Financial Position date 
and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses 
during the year. However, the nature of estimates means 
that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates.

The following are the significant management judgements 
made in applying the accounting policies of the Group 
that have the most significant effect on the financial 
statements.
Financial instrument classification

The Group’s loans are required to be classified as either 
basic or non-basic financial instruments in accordance 
with the conditions set out under FRS102 section 11.9.

Management has concluded that two of the Group’s 
loans should be reported as non-basic. Both include an 
embedded mandatory swap payment on termination of 
the loan which results in the return to the lender being 
a combination of a positive fixed rate and a negative 
variable rate (as part of the notional swap value) which is 
not permitted by FRS102 11.9a (iv).

The Group’s remaining loans each contain a prepayment 
option which may result in a compensation payment from 
the lender. Management has assessed this prepayment 
option against the condition set out in FRS102 11.9b 
which states that for a loan to be classified as basic 
there should be no contractual provision that results in 
the holder losing the principal amount or any interest 
attributable to current or prior periods. Management has 
concluded that the loans are basic on the basis that the 
repayment relates to future interest payments and not the 
repayment of the principal amount or interest that is due. 

Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that 
have the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liability, income and expenses 
is provided below.  Actual results may be substantially 
different.
Provision for replacement of cladding containing 
aluminium composite material (ACM)

Management has concluded that a constructive 
obligation to complete works to replace the cladding on 
two buildings containing a limited amount of ACM owned 
by the Group exists. Estimates have been obtained to 
carry out related remedial works. Such works to replace 
the cladding are expected to commence in the next 
financial year. Whilst management intend to pursue all 
available options to recover these costs no allowance 
for any recovery has been recognised in these financial 

Swan Housing Association Limited is registered under the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Act 2014 
and is a registered provider of social housing.

Chair’s Introduction1. Legal Status and 2. Principal Accounting Policies
Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Legal Status

2. Principal Accounting policies
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statements. A provision of £3.2m (2017: £nil) has been 
made during the year ended 31 March 2018 (see note 
20). In estimating the quantum of cost there exists a 
level of uncertainty attaching to both the final scope and 
nature of work required.
Useful lives of depreciable assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives 
of depreciable assets at each reporting date based on 
the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these 
estimates may relate to technological obsolescence and 
changes to decent home standards which may require 
more frequent replacement of key components.
Pension deficit obligation

Management’s estimate of its closed defined benefit 
pension deficit obligation is based on its current 
contractual obligation to the Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS). The funding agreement for past deficits 
requires additional payments until 2026.  The present 
value of this obligation, which has been calculated using 
a discount rate in line with an A-rated corporate bond of 
2.9%, was £4.4m as at 31 March 2018 (2017: £4.9m).

Stock and properties held for sale

Stock and properties held for sale are carried at the lower 
of cost or net realisable value. Management assesses the 
net realisable value of schemes using publicly available 
information and internal forecasts on future sale prices 
after allowing for all further costs of completion and 
disposal.
Fair value measurement

Management utilises the services of a specialist 
treasury advisor to calculate the fair value of its financial 
instruments.  Fair value measurements were applied to 
two loans in the year.  The valuation techniques include 
discounted cash flow pricing models with observable 
inputs.  The most significant inputs into those models are 
interest rate yield curves, developed from publicly quoted 
rates and market-available information.  

All valuations have been compared to similar market 
transactions or alternative third-party pricing services 
to ensure current market conditions are properly 
represented.  The fair value of the two non-basic financial 
instruments as at 31 March 2018 was £121.3m (2017: 
£126.2m). 

Movements in fair value between periods are exclusively 
due to changes in observable inputs, which can shift 
due to changes in demand and supply in public market 
rates and market information, and due to time factor in 
the above instruments’ pricing in a discounted cash flow 
pricing model.
Group structure and basis of consolidation

Swan Housing Association Limited Group (‘the Group’) 
came into existence in 1994. The Group is required by 

Report of the BoardStrategic ReportChair’s Introduction2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

the Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Act 
2014 to prepare consolidated accounts. The Group 
financial statements incorporate the financial statements 
of the Parent, Swan Housing Association Limited, and its 
subsidiaries. 

The results of businesses acquired or disposed of in the 
year are consolidated from or up to the effective date of 
acquisition or disposal retrospectively.  The net assets of 
businesses acquired are incorporated in the consolidated 
accounts at their fair values at the date of acquisition.  
Transactions and balances between Group companies 
are eliminated.

The Group acquired a 49.9% interest in Purfleet Centre 
Regeneration Limited during the year. This interest 
results in a jointly controlled entity which is accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting. Under this 
method the equity investment is initially recognised at 
the transaction price and is subsequently adjusted to 
reflect the Group’s share of the profit or loss in the jointly 
controlled entity. The acquisition generated goodwill of 
£0.3m.

Turnover

Turnover comprises rental income receivable in the year, 
income from shared ownership first tranche sales, sales 
of properties built for sale, income for care and support 
services, unitary charge income from a private finance 
initiative and other services included at the contracted or 
invoiced value (excluding VAT chargeable) of goods and 
services supplied in the year and grants receivable in the 
year.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical completion 
or otherwise become available for letting, net of any 
voids.  Income from first tranche sales and sales of 
properties built for sale is recognised at the point 
of legal completion of the sale.  Income from land 
sales is recognised on the unconditional exchange of 
contracts.  Income for care and support services are 
recognised when the rewards and benefits associated 
with the services provided are transferred, where the 
amount can be estimated reliably and when the amount 
is recoverable. Unitary charge income is recognised 
in accordance with the financial close model which 
apportions the income between the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for housing management 
services and the Statement of Financial Position for 
income accrued during the construction phase of the 
contract.

Donations received under the Gift Aid scheme in Swan 
Housing Association Limited from its subsidiaries are 
recognised as turnover upon receipt as it relates to the 
principal activities of the Association and is eliminated on 
consolidation.
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Interest

Interest is recognised as income when receivable.  
Interest payable is accrued daily and recognised as an 
expense. Interest on the net borrowing of the Group as 

Chair’s Introduction2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

VAT

The Association and the majority of its subsidiaries 
are included in a Group VAT registration in the name 
of Swan Housing Association Limited. The majority of 
the Association’s income, being rents, is exempt for 
VAT purposes, but other Group members generate 
taxable income. This combination gives rise to a partial 
exemption calculation. Expenditure for non-taxable 
activities is therefore shown inclusive of VAT and the 
input VAT recovered is credited against operating costs.  
Expenditure on taxable activities is shown exclusive of 
VAT. The balance of VAT payable or recoverable at the 
year end is included as a current liability or asset.

Intangible assets

Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Costs relating to the 
to the development of computer software for internal use 
are capitalised. Costs include the total cost of external 

products or services and any labour costs directly 
attributable to the development.

Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis over the 
expected useful life of the software. The expected useful 
life is considered to be four years.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the difference between the cost of an 
acquired entity or business over the aggregate of 
the fair value of that entity’s identifiable assets and 
liabilities.  Positive goodwill is shown on the Statement 
of Financial Position as an asset and is amortised evenly 
over its estimated useful economic life.  In addition to 
systematic amortisation, the book value is written down 
to recoverable amount when any impairment is identified.

Investments in subsidiaries   

Investments in subsidiaries represent amounts 
subscribed as share capital to, or on-lent by, the 
Association to its subsidiaries under the Group’s internal 
financing arrangements and are stated at cost less 
impairment in the Association’s financial statements.

Investments in jointly controlled entities (joint 
ventures)  

An entity is treated as jointly controlled where the Group 
is party to an agreement with one or more parties from 
outside the Group to undertake an economic activity that 
is subject to joint control. In the consolidated accounts, 
interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for 
using the equity method.

Impairment

The Group continuously reviews the performance of 
its assets and management monitors the operating 
environment for triggers of impairment such as, but 
not limited to, increasing void losses and changes in 
government policy. As at 31 March 2018 management 
assessed whether there were any impairments triggers 
and concluded there were none.

Where there is evidence of impairment, the intangible 
and tangible fixed assets are written down to their 
recoverable amount and any impairment losses are 
charged to operating expenditure.

The recoverable amounts of the Association’s housing 
properties are estimated as follows:

(a) Determine the level at which a recoverable amount is 
to be assessed, the cash generating unit (CGU) level is 
determined to be an individual scheme;
(b) Estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU;
(c) Calculate the carrying amount of the CGU, and   
(d) Compare the carrying amount to the recoverable 
amount to determine if an impairment has occurred.

a whole is capitalised to the extent that the borrowing 
relates to development costs less capital grants received 
in relation to incomplete properties under construction or 
refurbishment. 

Taxation  

Current tax is recognised for the amount of Corporation 
Tax payable in respect of the taxable surplus for the 
current or past reporting periods using the rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted 
at the reporting date.  As a result of the Association’s 
status as a charity, the Association is largely exempt 
from Corporation Tax. The Association’s subsidiaries 
are subject to Corporation Tax but may make Gift 
Aid donations to the Association which reduces their 
liabilities to Corporation Tax.

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing 
differences at the reporting date, except as indicated.  
Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that they will be recovered against the 
reversal of deferred tax liabilities or future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is calculated using the rates and laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date that are expected to apply to the reversal of the 
timing difference. Deferred tax liabilities are presented 
in provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets in 
debtors. Such assets and liabilities are only offset where 
the Group has a legal right of set off and relate to the 
same tax authority and taxable entities.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
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Based on this assessment, a Depreciated Replacement 
Cost (DRC) is calculated using appropriate construction 
costs and land prices.  Where the DRC is less than the 
carrying amount an impairment is taken to reduce the 
carrying amount to the DRC.
Housing properties cost and depreciation

Completed general needs and supported housing 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost includes 
the cost of acquiring land and buildings, development 
on-costs and interest charges incurred during the 
development period.

Works to existing properties which replace a component 
that has been treated separately for depreciation 
purposes, along with works that result in an increase in 
net rental income over the lives of the properties, thereby 
enhancing the economic benefits of the assets, are 
capitalised as improvements.  

The Group depreciates the major components of its 
general needs and supported housing properties on a 
straight line basis, at the following annual rates:

Structure     0.80% 
Bathrooms     3.33%
Kitchens      5.00%
Electrics     3.33%
Boilers      6.66%
Windows     3.33%
Central Heating                 2.50%
Freehold land is not depreciated.
Expenditure on shared ownership properties is split 
proportionally between current and fixed assets based 
on the element relating to expected first tranche sales.  
The first tranche proportion is classed as a current asset 
and the related sales proceeds are included in turnover.  
The remaining element is classed as a fixed asset and 
included in housing properties at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation on a straight line basis over the life of the 
structure and impairment losses. 

Completed NHS keyworker and properties held under 
finance leases are stated at cost less depreciation which 
is charged on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Housing properties under construction are stated at cost 
and are transferred to completed properties once they 
are available for letting.  No depreciation is provided on 
housing properties under construction.

For other tangible fixed assets, depreciation is charged 
on a straight line basis over the expected economic 
useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates:

Development on-costs

Stock

Raw materials are stated at the lower of cost or net 
realisable value.

Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. 
Cost includes the purchase price, including taxes and 
duties and transport and handling directly attributable 
to bringing the inventory to its present location and 
condition.   

At each balance sheet date values are assessed for 
impairment.  If values are impaired, the carrying value 
is reduced to its recoverable value less the costs 
to completion. The impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Properties for sale   

Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed 
properties for outright sale and property under 
construction are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.  Cost comprises materials, direct labour 
and direct development overheads.  Net realisable value 
is based on estimated sales price after allowing for all 
further costs of completion and disposal.

Costs associated with development projects are 
capitalised where they are directly attributable to 
bringing the properties into working condition for their 
intended use. Such costs generally include professional 
fees, directly attributable staff salary costs incurred in 
administering the development programme and loan 
interest attributable to the scheme.  Costs incurred on 
schemes which are identified as abortive are written off in 
the year in which the scheme is classified as abortive.

Lease obligations 

Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements 
which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership, they are classified as finance leases and 
are treated as if they had been purchased outright.  
The amount capitalised is the present value of the 
minimum lease payment during the term of the lease.  
The corresponding leasing commitments are shown as 
obligations to the lessor.  Rentals paid under operating 
leases (including those paid under temporary social 
housing leases) are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis over the 
lease term.

Freehold offices 0.8% on cost
Leasehold improvements 20% on cost
Plant and machinery 20% on cost
Office equipment and fittings 20% on cost
Computer equipment 25% on cost
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
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Work in progress consists of land and build costs 
incurred on current developments. This is held at the 
lower of cost or estimated selling price less costs to 
complete and sell.

Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price 
less any impairment. A full provision is made against 
former tenant arrears and a phased percentage provision 
is made against current tenant balances with a maximum 
of 75% for balances outstanding for more than 20 weeks.

Equity loans

Equity loans are initially recognised at their fair value. 
The loans are subsequently updated to reflect imputed 
interest and are reviewed for impairment with any 
adjustments being recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The Group shares in any future 
capital gain or loss realised by the homeowner on the 
related property since the loan amount repayable is tied 
to the property value. 
Creditors

Short term creditors are measured at the transaction 
price.

Government grants 

Government grants include grants receivable from the 
Homes and Communities Agency, local authorities and 
other government organisations.  Government capital 
grants received prior to the transition to FRS102 have 
been accounted for under the performance method 
and recognised as income.  Capital grants for housing 
properties received post transition are accounted 
for under the accruals method within creditors and 
recognised in income over the useful life of the property 
structure.

Social Housing and other capital development grants 
may be repayable under certain circumstances, primarily 
following the sale of a property.  Provision for repayment 
in the Recycled Capital Grant Fund is made in the 
Statement of Financial Position when properties which 
have previously received grant funding are sold.

Grants relating to revenue are recognised as income over 
the same period as the expenditure to which they relate 
once reasonable assurance has been gained that any 
conditions associated with the grant have been met.

Pensions

Swan Housing Association Limited participates in 
a  multi-employer defined benefit scheme, the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS), which the Association 
has closed to new entrants.  It has not been possible 
to identify the share of underlying assets and liabilities 
belonging to individual participating employers, therefore 

the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution 
scheme. The charge to expenditure represents the 
employer contribution payable to the scheme for the 
accounting period.

Contributions payable from the Association to the SHPS 
under the terms of its funding agreement for past deficits 
are recognised as a liability on a discounted basis. 

Swan Housing Association Limited, Swan New Homes 
Limited, Vivo Support Limited and Hera Management 
Services Limited currently operate defined contribution 
schemes for active members. The charge to expenditure 
represents the employer contribution payable to the 
scheme for the accounting period.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments which meet the criteria of a basic 
financial instrument as defined in Section 11 of FRS102 
are accounted for under an amortised cost model.  The 
effective interest rate method, which applies the interest 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
flows to the carrying amount of the financial instrument at 
initial recognition, has been used to calculate amortised 
cost.  Any related fees and transaction costs are also 
amortised using this method.

Loan modifications are assessed on a case by case 
basis and where modifications are deemed to be 
substantial the instrument is derecognised.  Where 
modifications are considered to be non-substantial they 
are accounted for in accordance with Section 11 of 
FRS102. 

Non-basic financial instruments are recognised at fair 
value using a valuation technique with any gains or 
losses being reported in surplus or deficit.  At each year 
end the instruments are revalued to fair value with the 
movements posted to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

The Group and Association have not adopted hedge 
accounting for financial instruments.

Loan issue costs

Costs in relation to the issuance of basic debt 
instruments are amortised over the life of the instrument.  
Costs in relation to non-basic debt instruments are 
expensed as incurred.  The discount/premium arising on 
bond issues are spread evenly over the remaining life 
of the bond, with a resulting movement in finance costs 
each year. 

Provision for liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be  required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the obligation.



54 Swan Housing Association Limited Annual Report 2018

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation.

The Group recognises a provision for annual leave 
accrued by employees as a result of services rendered in 
the current period, and which employees are entitled to 
carry forward and use in the next accounting period.  The 
provision is measured at the average salary cost payable 
for the period of absence. 

The Group has also recognised a provision to replace the 
cladding on two schemes which contain ACM.

Reserves

The Group establishes reserves for specific purposes 
where their use is subject to external restrictions and 
designated reserve where reserves are earmarked for a 
particular purpose.

Valuation Reserves

On transition to FRS102 the revaluation reserve was 
credited with the difference between the fair value of 
housing properties and the historical cost carrying value. 
As a result housing properties carried at revaluation pre-
transition are carried at deemed cost. 

The depreciation charges and disposal costs relating 
to housing properties carried at deemed cost therefore 
contain an element of cost that is attributable to 
revaluation. Annual transfers between the income and 
expenditure and revaluation reserves are made to 
reconcile the reserve accounts.

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Turnover 

£’000

Operating costs  

£’000

Surplus/ 
(deficit) 

£’000

Income and expenditure:

From social housing lettings (see note 4) 59,358 (28,435) 30,923

Other social housing activities:

Supporting people contract income 2,408 (2,796) (388)
Group management services - (7,216) (7,216)
First tranche shared ownership sales 576 (488) 88
Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative 6,356 (5,283) 1,073
Other 26 - 26

9,366 (15,783) (6,417)

Total social housing activities 68,724 (44,218) 24,506

Activities other than social housing

Development activities 32,893 (27,968) 4,925
Total 101,617 (72,186) 29,431

Group 2017

Turnover 

£’000

Operating costs 

£‘000 

Surplus/ 
(deficit) 

£’000

Income and expenditure:

From social housing lettings (see note 4) 59,477 (33,081) 26,396

Other social housing activities:

Supporting people contract income 1,621 (2,058) (437)
Group management services - (6,896) (6,896)
First tranche shared ownership sales 1,711 (1,291) 420
Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative 7,178 (5,916) 1,262
Other 116 (140) (24)

10,626 (16,301) (5,675)

Total social housing activities 70,103 (49,382) 20,721

Activities other than social housing

Development activities 21,015 (16,454) 4,561
Total 91,118 (65,836) 25,282

Group 2018

Report of the BoardStrategic ReportChair’s Introduction3. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class of business

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Turnover 

£’000

Operating costs 

£‘000 

Surplus/ (deficit) 

£’000

Income and expenditure:

From social housing lettings (see note 4) 59,358 (28,435) 30,923

Other social housing activities:

Supporting people contract income 2,408 (2,796) (388)
Group management services 500 (7,716) (7,216)
First tranche shared ownership sales 576 (488) 88
Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative 6,356 (5,283) 1,073
Other 11,371 (523) 10,848

21,211 (16,806) 4,405

Total social housing activities 80,569 (45,241) 35,328

Activities other than social housing

Development activities - - -
Total 80,569 (45,241) 35,328

Association 2017

Turnover 

£’000

Operating costs 

£‘000 

Surplus/ (deficit) 

£’000

Income and expenditure:

From social housing lettings (see note 4) 59,477 (33,081) 26,396

Other social housing activities:

Supporting people contract income 1,621 (2,058) (437)
Group management services 500 (7,396) (6,896)
First tranche shared ownership sales 1,711 (1,291) 420
Forest Gate Private Finance Initiative 7,178 (5,916) 1,262
Other 5,122 (577) 4,545

16,132 (17,238) (1,106)

Total social housing activities 75,609 (50,319) 25,290

Activities other than social housing

Development activities - - -
Total 75,609 (50,319) 25,290

Association 2018

Note: Other income includes £4,530k (2017: £10,456k) of donations received under the Gift Aid scheme from Group 
companies.

Report of the BoardStrategic ReportChair’s Introduction3. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class of business

Notes to the Financial Statements
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General 
Needs 

Housing 

£’000

NHS Trust 
Key

Worker 

£’000

Shared 
Ownership 

£’000

Total 
2018

£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges 43,907 5,887 1,894 51,688 51,818

Amortised government grant 515 - - 515 499
Service income 6,203 - 266 6,469 6,252
Net rental income 50,625 5,887 2,160 58,672 58,569

Lease income 805 - - 805 789
Turnover from social housing 
lettings 51,430 5,887 2,160 59,477 59,358

Management (9,639) (1,580) (369) (11,588) (11,374)
Services (2,893) (330) (106) (3,329) (2,951)
Routine maintenance (3,687) (421) (135) (4,243) (4,314)
Planned maintenance (5,439) (619) (199) (6,257) (2,553)
Bad debts (209) (46) - (255) 80
Depreciation of housing properties (5,436) (1,721) (252) (7,409) (7,323)
Operating costs on social housing 
lettings (27,303) (4,717) (1,061) (33,081) (28,435)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings 24,127 1,170 1,099 26,396 30,923

Void losses (308)           (995) - (1,303)       (1,126)

Group

4. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings
Notes to the Financial Statements
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General 
Needs 

Housing 

£’000

NHS Trust 
Key

worker 

£’000

Shared 
Ownership 

£’000

Total 
2018

£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges 43,907 5,887 1,894 51,688 51,818

Amortised government grant 515 - - 515 499
Service income 6,203 - 266 6,469 6,252
Net rental income 50,625 5,887 2,160 58,672 58,569

Lease income 805 - - 805 789
Turnover from social housing 
lettings 51,430 5,887 2,160 59,477 59,358

Management (9,639) (1,580) (369) (11,588) (11,374)
Services (2,893) (330) (106) (3,329) (2,951)
Routine maintenance (3,687) (421) (135) (4,243) (4,314)
Planned maintenance (5,439) (619) (199) (6,257) (2,553)
Bad debts (209) (46) - (255) 80
Depreciation of housing properties (5,436) (1,721) (252) (7,409) (7,323)
Operating costs on social housing 
lettings (27,303) (4,717) (1,061) (33,081) (28,435)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings 24,127 1,170 1,099 26,396 30,923

Void losses       (308)           (995) -       (1,303) (1,126)

Association

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction4. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings (cont)
Notes to the Financial Statements

The aggregate amount of Executive Director remuneration, who are considered to be the Group’s key management 
personnel, for the year was £977k excluding pension contributions and taxable benefits (2017: £1,037k). Directors’ 
pension contributions for the year were £41k (2017: £70k). Directors’ social security costs for the year were £128k 
(2017: £133k). Directors’ benefits in kind for the year were £8k (2017: £8k).

Remuneration of the highest paid senior executive (Chief Executive) was £240k. In addition a payment in lieu of 
pension contributions of £18k was paid in the year. Social security costs were £34k.
  
Parent Board and Committee Members received remuneration of £140k (2017: £136k).  Social security costs were 
£4k (2017: £4k). Total expenses reimbursed to Board and Committee Members were £3k (2017: £5k).

During the year £nil (2017: £29k) was paid in compensation for loss of office to key management personnel.

5. Key management personnel
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The average numbers of persons employed by the Group expressed both in full time equivalents and numbers of staff 
members (including senior executives but excluding Board members), analysed by category were as follows: 

                      GROUP                         GROUP

2018
FTEs

2018
No.

2017
FTEs

2017
No.

Administration staff 263 288 255 283
Maintenance 4 4 3 4
Caretakers, cleaners and wardens 82 113 77 105

349 405 335 392

The aggregate payroll cost of these persons was as follows:

                                                                                GROUP

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Wages and salaries 15,253 13,753
Social security costs 1,539 1,374
Other pension costs 393 346

17,185 15,473

The pension cost includes £nil (2017: £nil) increase in the provision for past deficit contributions. During the year a 
total of £117k (2017: £82k) was paid in relation to severance and redundancy costs, which are included in wages and 
salaries above. In addition, a total of £77k (2017: £84k) was paid to Non-Executive Board members and is included in 
wages and salaries above, see page 38 for further details.

2018
FTE

2017
FTE

£60,001 to £70,000 12 4
£70,001 to £80,000 8 10
£80,001 to £90,000 8 9
£90,001 to £100,000 5 5
£100,001 to £110,000 4 1
£110,001 to £120,000 1 -
£120,001 to £130,000 2 3
£130,001 to £140,000 - 2
£140,001 to £150,000 3 2
£150,001 to £160,000 1 -
£160,001 to £170,000 - -
£170,001 to £180,000 - 1
£180,001 to £190,000 - -
£190,001 to £200,000 1 1
£200,001 to £210,000 2 1
£220,001 to £230,000 - -
£230,001 to £240,000 - 1
£240,001 to £250,000 - 1
£250,001 to £260,000 - -
£260,001 to £270,000 1 -

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction6. Staff numbers and costs
Notes to the Financial Statements

The full time equivalents number including Executive Directors who receive remuneration:
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                       GROUP                           ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Bank loans 10,011 10,152 10,011 10,152
Housing Zone loans 906 11 - -
Bond 7,641 7,054 - -
Interest on intra-group lending - - 7,641 7,054
Unwinding of discount on pension deficit 163 185 163 185
Other bank charges 484 330 473 330
Finance lease charges 270 262 270 262

19,475 17,994 18,558 17,983

Less: interest capitalised (3,468) (1,756) (1,301) (385)
16,007 16,238 17,257 17,598

                     GROUP                       ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Disposal proceeds 4,034 7,317 4,034 24,317
Carrying value of fixed assets sold (3,209) (7,919) (3,209) (24,919)

825 (602) 825 (602)

Included in the amounts above for both the Group and the Association are surpluses on the sale of housing 
properties of £510k (2017: deficit of £(602)k). The carrying value of housing assets sold includes Recycled Capital 
Grant as detailed in note 19.

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction7. Surplus/(Deficit) on sale of fixed assets
Notes to the Financial Statements

8. Interest receivable

                     GROUP                       ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Interest receivable from joint venture 475 - - -
Bank interest receivable 112 154 67 119
Interest from other group 
undertakings

- - 1,388 1,371

587 154 1,455 1,490

9. Interest payable and similar charges
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2018
£’000

2017
£’000

The surplus on ordinary activities before taxation for the year is stated 
after charging/(crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration:
• Fees payable to the Association’s auditor for the financial statement 

audit
62 57

• Fees payable to the Association’s auditor for the audit of the financial           
statements of its subsidiaries

42 26

• Other assurance services 32 32
• Other services - -

Depreciation on housing properties 7,076 7,049
Depreciation on component replacement 333 274
Depreciation on other tangible fixed assets 385 197
Operating surplus Forest Gate PFI (1,262) (1,073)
Operating lease charges 164 147
Impairment of goodwill - 68
Amortisation of goodwill 68 69

Group

Association

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction10. Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation
Notes to the Financial Statements

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

The surplus on ordinary activities before taxation for the year is stated 
after charging/(crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration:
• Fees payable to the Association’s auditor for the financial statement 

audit
62 57

• Fees payable to the Association’s auditor for the audit of the financial   
statements of its subsidiaries

42 26

• Other assurance services 32 32
• Other services - -

Depreciation on housing properties 7,076 7,049
Depreciation on component replacement 333 274
Depreciation on other tangible fixed assets 340 191
Operating surplus Forest Gate PFI (1,262) (1,073)
Operating lease charges 158 146
Group service fees receivable from other Group undertakings (note 27) (500) (500)
Impairment of goodwill - -
Amortisation of goodwill - -
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2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Current tax:

UK Corporation Tax on surplus for the year 1,136 1,026
Adjustment in respect of prior years - 107
Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 1,136 1,133

Tax reconciliation to total tax charge

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 15,641 8,171

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of Corporation Tax in 
the UK of 19% (2017: 20%)

2,972 1,634

Unrecognised losses utilised (2) -
Charitable tax exemption (1,834) (608)
Adjustment in respect of prior periods - 107
Total tax charge for year 1,136 1,133

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Current tax:

UK Corporation Tax on surplus for the year - -
Adjustment in respect of prior years - -
Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities - -

Tax reconciliation to tax charge

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 15,269 14,044

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of Corporation Tax in 
the UK of 19% (2017: 20%)

2,901 2,809

Unrecognised losses utilised - -
Charitable tax exemption (2,901) (2,809)
Adjustment in respect of prior periods - -
Total tax charge for year - -

Deferred tax assets of £68k (2017: £70k) relating to tax losses of £401k (2017: £414k) have not been recognised 
since, although the Board expect the subsidiary businesses which generated these tax losses to generate future 
taxable profits capable of offset by the losses, they do not consider that the standards required for recognition have yet 
been met.

Group

Group

Association

Association

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction11. Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities
Notes to the Financial Statements

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Tax credits in Statement of Changes in Reserves

Tax previously provided on profits, released following payment of Gift Aid 906 2,091

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Tax credits in Statement of Changes in Reserves

Tax previously provided on profits, released following payment of Gift Aid - -
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Software
(under construction)

£’000

Goodwill

£’000

Total

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 - 1,056 1,056
Additions 616 - 616
At 31 March 2018 616 1,056 1,672

Amortisation

At 1 April 2017 - (368) (368)
Charge for the year - (54) (54)
At 31 March 2018 - (422) (422)

Net book value

At 31 March 2018 616 634 1,250

At 31 March 2017 - 688 688

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction11. Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Factors impacting future taxes

The UK Government has announced that the rate of UK Corporation Tax will reduce to 17% with effect from 1 April 
2020.

The Group has wholly owned subsidiaries that were formed in the expectation that their profits would be donated to 
the Association under the Gift Aid scheme. Such donations if made within nine months of the end of an accounting 
period may be used to reduce the Corporation Tax payable in respect of the profits of that period. No provision for 
such a donation out of the 2018 profits has been included in these accounts since no obligation to make that payment 
exists, but the Directors expect that such a donation will be made within nine months of 31 March 2018 and the 
Corporation Tax provided above will be correspondingly reduced.

12. Intangible fixed assets

Group

Association

Software
(under construction)

£’000

Cost and net book value

At 1 April 2017 -
Additions 616
At 31 March 2018 616
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Group

General/
special 

needs

£’000

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

£’000

Completed 
NHS Key 

Worker

£’000

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

£’000

Under 
construction

£’000

Total

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 589,076 51,607 64,102 2,800 17,351 724,936
Additions 4,201 - 418 42 40,955 45,616
Disposals (241) (1,646) - - - (1,887)
Completions 2,826 3,158 - - (5,984) -
Transfers to work in progress - - - - (5,822) (5,822)
At 31 March 2018 595,862 53,119 64,520 2,842 46,500 762,843

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017 (14,603) (746) (16,887) (2,454) - (34,690)
Disposals 5 27 - - - 32
Charge for the year (5,402) (252) (1,721) (34) - (7,409)
At 31 March 2018 (20,000) (971) (18,608) (2,488) - (42,067)

Net book value

At 31 March 2018 575,862 52,148 45,912 354 46,500 720,776

At 31 March 2017 574,472 50,861 47,215 347 17,351 690,246

Net book value at 31 March 2018 
is represented by:

Gross cost 764,930 42,802 64,520 2,842 46,500 921,594
Less: Depreciation (56,638) (3,812) (18,608) (2,488) - (81,546)
Less: Social housing grant (234,694) (13,754) - - - (248,448)
Less: Other public sector grant (30,829) (7,912) - - - (38,741)
Revaluation reserve 133,093 34,824 - - - 167,917

575,862 52,148 45,912 354 46,500 720,776

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction13. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties
Notes to the Financial Statements
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General/
special 

needs

£’000

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

£’000

Completed 
NHS Key 

Worker

£’000

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

£’000

Under 
construction

£’000

Total

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 589,076 51,607 64,102 2,800 22,343 729,928
Additions 4,201 - 418 42 41,483 46,144
Disposals (241) (1,646) - - - (1,887)
Completions 2,826 3,158 - - (5,984) -
Transfers to work in progress - - - - (5,822) (5,822)
At 31 March 2018 595,862 53,119 64,520 2,842 52,020 768,363

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017 (14,603) (746) (16,887) (2,454) - (34,690)
Disposals 5 27 - - - 32
Charge for the year (5,402) (252) (1,721) (34) - (7,409)
At 31 March 2018 (20,000) (971) (18,608) (2,488) - (42,067)

Net book value

At 31 March 2018 575,862 52,148 45,912 354 52,020 726,296

At 31 March 2017 574,472 50,861 47,215 347 22,343 695,239

Net book value at 31 March 2018 
is represented by:

Gross cost 764,930 42,802 64,520 2,842 52,020 927,114
Less: Depreciation (56,638) (3,812) (18,608) (2,488) - (81,546)
Less: Social housing grant (234,694) (13,754) - - - (248,448)
Less: Other public sector grant (30,829) (7,912) - - - (38,741)
Revaluation reserve 133,093 34,824 - - - 167,917

575,862 52,148 45,912 354 52,020 726,296

Association

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction13. Tangible fixed assets - housing properties (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Included within additions are development administration costs of the Group: £365k, Association: £365k (2017: 
Group: £385k, Association: £385k) and interest capitalised of the Group: £1,301k, Association: £1,301k (2017: Group: 
£122k, Association: £122k).  The interest capitalisation was calculated using the Group’s average cost of floating rate 
borrowing each month.  The average rate during the year was 4.09% (2017: 4.08%).

The maintenance and repair expenditure, excluding the £3.2m provision (2017: £nil) to replace ACM on two schemes, 
on housing properties was for the Group: £10.1m, Association £10.1m (2017: Group: £9.4m, Association: £9.4m).  
£4.7m of this expenditure is capitalised (2017: £4.4m) for both Group and Association.

The £5.8m (2017: £17.0m) transfer to work in progress includes movements to reflect changes in the tenure mix on 
development schemes under construction as well as additions and completions during the year.

All completed housing stock of the Group and Association was restated at deemed cost on transition for FRS102 
based on a formal valuation undertaken by Savills, Chartered Surveyors. The deemed cost was based on the Existing 
Use Value for Social Housing (EUV-SH) for accounts purposes as at 31 March 2014.

Completed NHS Key Worker properties are carried at cost less depreciation.

During the current year the Group and Association did not make any impairment charges (2017: £nil). 

Strategic ReportChair’s Introduction13. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Freehold 
offices 

£’000

Leasehold 
improvements

£’000

Plant and 
machinery

£’000

Computer 
equipment

£’000

Office 
equipment 

and fittings

£’000

Total

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 3,538 - - 4,081 2,389 10,008
Additions - 672 1,433 661 400 3,166
Disposals (111) - - - (13) (124)
At 31 March 2018 3,427 672 1,433 4,742 2,776 13,050

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017 (144) - - (3,892) (1,690) (5,726)
Charge for the year (71) (34) - (65) (215) (385)
Disposals 26 - - - 14 40
At 31 March 2018 (189) (34) - (3,957) (1,891) (6,071)

Net book value

At 31 March 2018 3,238 638 1,433 785 885 6,979

At 31 March 2017 3,394 - - 191 699 4,284

Freehold offices 

£’000

Computer 
equipment

£’000

Office equipment 
and fittings

£’000

Total

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 3,538 4,023 2,389 9,950
Additions - 622 252 874
Disposals (111) - (13) (124)
At 31 March 2018 3,427 4,645 2,628 10,700

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017 (144) (3,837) (1,690) (5,670)
Charge for the year (71) (60) (208) (340)
Disposals 26 - 14 40
At 31 March 2018 (189) (3,898) (1,884) (5,970)

Net book value

At 31 March 2018 3,238 747 744 4,730

At 31 March 2017 3,394 186 699 4,279

Group

Association

Chair’s Introduction14. Other tangible fixed assets
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Book and Fair Value
£’000

Work in progress 5,244
Cash at bank and in hand 315
Creditors: Amount falling due within one year (715)
Financing loans falling due after one year 4,849
Share of Net Current Assets and Debt 9,693

Goodwill arising on acquisition 303
9,996

Discharged by

Fair value of consideration for 49.9% shareholding 5,576

Fair value of consideration for 49.9% junior loan facility 4,420

9,996

On 31 October 2017, the Group acquired the interests of L&Q New Homes Limited in Purfleet Centre Regeneration 
Limited (PCRL). These interests comprised 49.9% of the shareholding and junior loan facility. The cost of the 
acquisition was £10.0 million.

Group share being 49.9% of the net current assets and debt at the date of acquisition:

Acquisition of joint venture

Investment in jointly controlled entity

15. Investments
Notes to the Financial Statements

Equity share in joint 
venture

£’000

Loans to joint venture

£’000

Total

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 - - -
Acquisition of 49.9% 5,576 4,420 9,996
Loan advances post-acquisition - 4,532 4,532
Interest accrued post-acquisition - 475 475
Amortisation of goodwill (14) - (14)
Share of losses post-acquisition (2) - (2)
At 31 March 2018 5,560 9,427 14,987

Goodwill is being amortised over the Directors’ estimate of its useful life of nine years, which is the expected duration 
of the regeneration project being undertaken by the joint venture. 

Group
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2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Current assets 15,917 -
Liabilities due within one year (852) -
Liabilities due after one year - -
Net assets 15,065 -

Shares in Group 
companies

£’000

Loans to Group 
companies

£’000

Total

£’000

At 1 April 2017 12 16,599 16,611
Advances to Group companies - 16,400 16,400
At 31 March 2018 12 32,999 33,011

Chair’s Introduction15. Investments (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

Post-acquisition 

Post-acquisition there was a final drawdown on the junior loan facility of £0.48m and a further £0.32m of interest 
capitalised. The Group also entered into an agreement to provide a £18.1m revolving credit facility to PCRL. As at 31 
March 2018, £4.0m of the revolving credit facility was drawn and a further £0.15m of interest capitalised.

The revolving credit and junior loan facilities both accrue interest at 14.0579% and are repayable at the end of phase 
1 of the development or 31 December 2022, whichever is earlier. The loans are secured by a floating charge over the 
assets of PCRL.

Additionally, the Group will be providing construction and certain other administrative services to PCRL. 

Joint venture net assets before shareholder loans as at 31 March:

Association

During the year ended 31 March 2018 net advances of £16,400k have been made to Group companies. 

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes England and Wales
Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor England and Wales
Hera Management Services Limited* Property management England and Wales
Vivo Support Limited* Care and support services England and Wales
Swan Housing Capital plc Treasury England and Wales
Swan Housing Finance Limited Dormant England and Wales

** 49.9% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

All of the Group’s subsidiaries and the jointly controlled entity’s registered office is Pilgrim House, High Street, 
Billericay, Essex, England, CM12 9XY.

At 31 March 2018 the Group held 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of the following:

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Purfleet Centre Regeneration 
Limited**

Property Development England and Wales

The jointly controlled entity is:

*Owned indirectly – 100% owned by Swan New Homes Limited
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Chair’s Introduction

                     GROUP                        ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Stock
Raw materials and consumables 444 - - -
Shared ownership properties

Work in progress 17,775 13,245 17,775 13,245
Properties developed for out-
right sale

Completed properties 671 422 - -
Work in progress 88,191 47,181 - -

107,081 60,848 17,775 13,245

During the year the Group and Association expensed as cost of sale costs related to properties held for sale and 
work in progress amounting to £16,347k (2017: £29,032k) and £1,291k (2017: £488k) respectively.

16. Stock and properties held for sale
Notes to the Financial Statements

a) Due within one year

                          GROUP                         ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Gross arrears of rent and service 
charges

1,267 1,303 1,267 1,303

Less: provision for bad and 
doubtful debts

(622) (552) (622) (552)

Net arrears of rent and service 
charges

645 751 645 751

Amounts owed by Group 
undertakings

- - 9,208 867

Other debtors 4,892 3,267 3,138 1,260
Prepayments and accrued 
income

2,133 823 1,093 440

7,670 4,841 14,084 3,318

b) Due after one year

Other prepayments and accrued 
income - PFI

28,904 30,834 28,904 30,834

Equity retained in 
properties sold

1,383 783 - -

30,287 31,617 28,904 30,834

17. Debtors
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                        GROUP                         ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Bank loan 520 1,193 520 1,193
PFI loan 1,249 2,242 1,249 2,242
Trade creditors 13,052 4,459 1,177 1,488
Amounts owed to Group 
undertakings

- - 7,214 1,108

Corporation Tax payable 1,136 1,133 - -
Other taxation and social security 443 1,079 306 992
Other creditors 10,294 5,508 1,421 2,090
Deferred Grant income 528 515 528 515
Pension deficit liability (see note 
28)

857 821 857 821

Interest payable 2,367 2,259 1,824 1,717
Accruals and deferred income 16,777 18,979 10,540 8,292

47,223 38,188 25,636 20,458

18. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Notes to the Financial Statements
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The bank loans above are drawn from bi-lateral loan facilities of £279m. Bank loans are secured by charges on 
specific properties and floating charges over the Group’s assets and are repayable at variable and fixed rates of 
interest between 1.54% and 6.10%.  

On 5 March 2015 the Group issued a £250m bond with £100m retained and on 8 July 2016 £60m of the retained 
bonds were issued.  The bond has coupon rate of 3.625%, matures in 2048 and has a remaining life of 30 years.  
Security for the bond has been provided in the form of housing assets. The original £150m bond was issued at a 
discount of £1.6m in 2015. The £60m retained bond issued in the last financial year generated a £3.3m premium 
on issue. The discount and the premium are being amortised over the remaining life of the bond using the effective 
average interest rate method.

                        GROUP                          ASSOCIATION

2018

£’000

2017

£’000

2018

£’000

2017

£’000

Bank loans (see analysis below) 317,694 304,419 317,694 304,419
Bond (see analysis below) 209,855 209,827 - -
Housing Zone loans (see analysis below) 34,916 16,187 - -
Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 209,855 209,827

562,465 530,433 527,549 514,246

Finance leases 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023
Deferred consideration - 22 - -
Recycled Capital Grant fund 3,264 3,949 3,264 3,949
Disposals Proceeds Fund 1,812 1,396 1,812 1,396
Deferred Grant 51,117 37,067 38,449 37,067
Pension deficit liability (see note 28) 3,513 4,112 3,513 4,112

625,194 580,002 577,610 563,793

Loans and Bond, due after one year:

Housing loans 170,088 150,607 170,087 150,607
Financial instruments at fair value 121,260 126,217 121,261 126,217
PFI Loan 26,346 27,595 26,346 27,595
Bond 210,000 210,000 - -
Less: issue costs (1,853) (1,915) - -
Less: bond discount and premium 1,708 1,742 - -
Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 209,855 209,827
Housing Zone loans 34,916 16,187 - -

562,465 530,433 527,549 514,246

Loans and Bond maturity 
(excluding PFI and Housing Zone):

Falling due less than one year 520 1,193 520 1,193
Falling due within one to two years 520 520 520 520
Falling due two to five years 3,504 2,599 3,504 2,599
Falling due after five years 438,563 419,988 438,418 419,815

443,107 424,300 442,962 424,127

Fair value adjustments for non-basic 
financial instruments

58,761 63,717 58,761 63,717

501,868 488,017 501,723 487,844

Chair’s Introduction19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Notes to the Financial Statements
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                       GROUP                      ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Falling due less than one year 1,249 2,242 1,249 2,242
Falling due within one to two years 1,962 1,249 1,962 1,249
Falling due two to five years 7,886 6,753 7,886 6,753
Falling due after five years 16,498 19,593 16,498 19,593

27,595 29,837 27,595 29,837

                       GROUP                      ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Falling due less than one year 12,353 - - -
Falling due within one to two years - 7,810 - -
Falling due two to five years - - - -
Falling due after five years 22,563 8,377 - -

34,916 16,187 - -

PFI loan:

Housing Zone loans:

The PFI loan is provided by Royal Bank of Scotland plc and repayable in full by 2028.  Interest is payable at 6.21% 
per annum for the remainder of the facility.

                      GROUP                       ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Finance leases - falling due after 
five years

3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023

The Group has two Housing Zone loans provided by the Greater London Authority. The first, with a facility limit of 
£29.1m, relates to the Group’s development at Cambridge Road, under which a further £4.6m was drawn in the year 
(2017: £7.8m). This facility carries interest at 3.29% per annum and is repayable on the earlier of receipts as they 
arise from the sale of development properties at Cambridge Road or 31 December 2019. The Directors are currently 
forecasting that the loan for Cambridge Road will be repaid by 31 March 2019.

The second facility, with a limit of £50m, relates to the Group’s development at Blackwall Reach, under which a further 
£14.2m was drawn in the year (2017: £8.4m). This facility carries interest at 4.0% per annum and is repayable no later 
than 31 December 2026. 

The two facilities are each secured by way of a fixed charge over the interest in the land at the related development 
site and by way of a floating charge over the assets of Swan New Homes Limited, a Group undertaking.

Chair’s Introduction19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Finance leases represent the capital funding advanced under finance lease arrangements for a total of 35 properties.  
These entail the funder (Bradford and Bingley plc) purchasing the freehold of properties on the open market and 
leasing them to Swan Housing Association Limited for 25 years from 2001.  At the end of the lease term Bradford and 
Bingley plc has a put option to sell the properties and Swan Housing Association Limited has a call option to purchase 
the properties, both at historic cost and at which point the liability will be settled.

Finance leases:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Analysis of Recycled Capital Grant Fund:

Analysis of Disposals Proceeds Fund:

Analysis of Deferred Grant:

                        GROUP                         ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Balance at 1 April 3,949 2,765 3,949 2,765
Additions to the fund 757 1,189 757 1,189
Interest charges in the year 14 8 14 8
Utilised during the year (1,456) (13) (1,456) (13)
Balance at 31 March 3,264 3,949 3,264 3,949

                       GROUP                        ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Balance at 1 April 1,396 1,393 1,396 1,393
Additions to the fund 512 435 512 435
Interest charged in the year 7 3 7 3
Utilised during the year (103) (435) (103) (435)
Balance at 31 March 1,812 1,396 1,812 1,396

                      GROUP                          ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Balance at 1 April 37,582 37,312 37,582 37,312
Grant received during the year 14,578 769 1,910 769
Release to income during the year (515) (499) (515) (499)
Balance at 31 March 51,645 37,582 38,977 37,582

Amounts to be released within one 
year 528 515 528 515

Amounts to be released in more than 
one year 51,117 37,067 38,449 37,067

51,645 37,582 38,977 37,582

                      GROUP                          ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Balance at 1 April - - - -
Provision made during the year 3,200 - 3,200 -
Balance at 31 March 3,200 - 3,200 -

Chair’s Introduction19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Notes to the Financial Statements

20. Provisions for liabilities

ACM Provision:
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                       GROUP                        ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Contracted but not provided 183,816 181,971 73,158 64,293

                       GROUP                        ASSOCIATION

Operating leases which expire: 2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Within one year 854 875 329 351
Between two and five years 2,613 2,793 514 693
Greater than five years 657 932 250 932
Balance at 31 March 4,124 4,600 1,093 1,976

Chair’s Introduction20. Provisions for liabilities (continued)

21. Share capital - Group and Association

22. Commitments

Notes to the Financial Statements

A provision of £3.2m (2017; £nil) to replace the cladding on two buildings containing aluminium composite material 
(ACM) owned by the Association has been made during the year. Management concluded that based on the nature 
of communication with residents of the affected buildings that a constructive obligation to complete the works existed 
at 31 March 2018 and have based the quantum of provision upon estimates obtained to carry out the works. The 
works to replace the cladding are expected to commence in the next financial year at which point the scope and cost 
of the works will be finalised. Whilst the Association and Group intends to pursue all available options to recover the 
cost of work undertaken, no allowance for any recovery has been recognised in these financial statements given the 
uncertainty attaching to the estimation of such recoveries. 

2018
£

2017
£

Outstanding at 1 April 7 7
Allocated during the year 2 -
Cancelled during the year (2) -
Shares of £1 each allotted issued and fully 
paid at 31 March 

7 7

The shares have limited rights.They carry no entitlement to a dividend, are not repayable and do not carry rights to 
participate in a winding up.They carry an entitlement to vote at the annual and special meetings of the Association. 
When shares are cancelled the amount paid up becomes the property of the Association.

i) Capital Commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made:

The Board considers that all expenditure will be financed through a combination of grants of £9.0m (2017: £6.0m), and 
sales income of £174.8m (2017: £145.8m).

ii) future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for equipment, motor vehicles and buildings 
are as follows:
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At 31 March 2018 the Group and Association housing stock comprised:

Group and Association

                         Owned 
                         number of units

                         Managed 
                        number of units

2018 2017 2018 2017

Social housing:

General needs 6,529 6,544 - -
Affordable 279 257 - -
Shared ownership 598 598 - -
Sheltered (elderly) 79 79 - -
Other supported housing 415 415 - -
NHS Key Worker 
accommodation

930 930 - -

London Borough of 
Newham

- - 1,304 1,308

Total social housing 8,830 8,823 1,304 1,308

Non-social housing:

Garages 243 242 183 183
Sold to leaseholder with 
retained freehold

763 737 - -

Total housing stock 9,836 9,802 1,487 1,491

Chair’s Introduction23. Contingent liabilities
Notes to the Financial Statements

24. Analysis of completed property units

Swan Housing Association Limited has issued performance bonds in respect of highway and other works which 
are part of development schemes in Basildon and Havering for £797,000 and £499,000 respectively which may be 
retained by the local authorities in the event of works required under the construction programme not being completed.  
At present the Association is expecting to complete these works satisfactorily.  The bonds expire at various dates, the 
latest of which is November 2018. 

The Group, through its subsidiary Swan Commercial Services Limited, has entered into a Deed of Guarantee and 
Indemnity with Thurrock Borough Council in relation to a regeneration project in Purfleet, Essex. As at 31 March 2018 
there were no material obligations under this guarantee.

Social Housing and other capital development grants may be repayable under certain circumstances, primarily 
following the sale of a property.

As the representative member of a VAT group, the Association has joint and several liability for amounts owing to 
HMRC which at 31 March 2018 were £nil (2017: £576k).

Performance bonds

The total units owned and managed by the Group as at 31 March 2018 equates to 11,323 (2017: 11,293)
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26. Related party disclosures

27. Subsidiaries

28. Pensions

The Association is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Act 2014 with the reference 
28496R and with the Homes and Communities Agency under reference L4145 under the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 as a Registered Provider.

SCHEME: TPT Retirement Solutions – Social Housing Pension Scheme

The Association participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 500 non-
associated employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for the Association to 
obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts 
for the scheme as a defined contribution scheme.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 
December 2005. This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial Standards 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension 
schemes in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a ‘last-man standing arrangement’. Therefore the Association is potentially liable for other 
participating employers’ obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit following 
withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on 
an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

Chair’s Introduction25. Legislative provisions
Notes to the Financial Statements

The Association has provided car purchase loans to one staff member of £10k (2017:£10k).
The Association had the following activity with non-regulated entities in the Group:  

- Swan New Homes Limited £(14,723)k net payment (2017: £6,716k net receipt) land, property sales and fees, 
Swan Commercial Services Limited £(21,590)k net payment (2017: £355k net receipt) construction activities and 
management fees which are recharged on an arm’s length basis, using actual costs incurred and time allocations as 
appropriate.
- Hera Management Services Limited £(88)k net payment (2017: £(92)k net payment) property management services 
and Vivo Support Limited £(620)k net payment (2017: £(648)k net payment) care services both are recharged on an 
arm’s length basis using actual costs incurred.

In addition the Group has advanced funding under a revolving credit facility of £4.0m (2017: £nil) to its joint venture, 
PCRL. At 31 March 2018 funding receivable, including interest accrued, from PCRL amounted to £9.4m (2017: 
£nil). Interest receivable in the year amounted to £0.5m (2017: £nil). Management fees charged to PCRL, which are 
included in turnover, amounted to £150k (2017: £nil).

Swan Housing Association Limited provides staff and other services to its subsidiaries under the terms of procedure 
agreements.  Details of the amount charged to the subsidiaries within the Group are as follows: 

Amount charged: 2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Swan Commercial Services Limited 150 150
Swan New Homes Limited 350 350

500 500
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Chair’s Introduction28. Pensions (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2014. This actuarial 
valuation was certified on 23 November 2015 and showed assets of £3,123m, liabilities of £4,446m and a deficit of 
£1,323m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustees and the participating employers have agreed that additional 
contributions will be paid, in combination from all employers, to the scheme as follows:

Tier 1 From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2020: £40.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 4.7% 
each year on 1 April)

Tier 2 From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2023 £28.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 4.7% 
each year on 1st April)

Tier 3 From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026 £32.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 3.0% 
each year on 1st April)

Tier 4 From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026: £31.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 3.0% 
each year on 1st April)

Deficit contributions

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2011; this valuation 
was certified on 17 December 2012 and showed assets of £2,062m, liabilities of £3,097m and a deficit of £1,035m. To 
eliminate this funding shortfall, payments consisted of the Tier 1, 2 & 3 deficit contributions.

Where the scheme is in deficit and where the Association has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement, the 
Association recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit 
reduction contributions payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present value is calculated using 
the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised as a finance cost.
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Present value of liability

2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016
£’000

Present value of liability 4,370 4,933 5,536

Reconciliation of opening and closing liabilities

2018
£’000

2017 
£’000

Liability at start of period 4,933 5,536
Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 163 185
Deficit contribution paid (821) (788)
Remeasurements - amendments to the contribution schedule 95 -
Liability at end of period 4,370 4,933

Statement of Comprehensive Income impact

2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

Interest expense 163 185
Remeasurements – amendments to the contribution schedule 95 -
Costs recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income 393 346

Assumptions

2018
 %

2017 
%

2016
%

Rate of discount 2.90 3.63 3.63

The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the future 
recovery plan contributions due, would give the same results as using a full A corporate bond yield curve to discount 
the same recovery plan contributions.

Chair’s Introduction28. Pensions (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ending 2018 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Year 1 856 821 788
Year 2 892 856 821
Year 3 730 892 856
Year 4 555 730 892
Year 5 577 555 730
Year 6 438 577 555
Year 7 288 438 577
Year 8 297 288 438
Year 9 153 297 288
Year 10 - 153 297
Year 11 - - 153

The Association must recognise a liability measured as the present value of the contributions payable that arise 
from the deficit recovery agreement and the resulting expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income i.e. the 
unwinding of the discount rate as a finance cost in the period in which it arises.

It is these contributions that have been used to derive the Association’s liability in the Statement of Financial Position.

                    GROUP                     ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Floating rate 13,633 34,437 42,579 50,603

Other than short term debtors, financial assets held are investments in other entities and cash deposits placed on call. 
£973k (2017: £973k) of the cash balance relates to sinking funds. Financial assets are sterling denominated and the 
interest rate profile at 31 March was:

The assets attract interest rates that vary with bank rates.

Financial assets

Our treasury strategy is explained in the Strategic Report.

The following schedule details the deficit contributions agreed between the Association and the scheme at each year 
end period:

Chair’s Introduction28. Pensions (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements

29. Financial assets and liabilities

Deficit contributions schedule
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Financial liabilities excluding trade creditors – interest rate risk profile:

The Group’s financial liabilities are sterling denominated. After taking into account various interest rate swaps, the 
interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 March was:

                    GROUP                     ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Floating rate 70,607 51,800 70,607 51,800
Fixed 435,011 418,524 400,095 402,337
Total 505,618 470,324 470,702 454,137

Borrowing Facilities:

The Group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The facilities available at 31 March in respect of which all 
conditions precedent had been met were as follows:

                    GROUP                     ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Expiring in less than 2 years 56,772 20,000 40,000 20,000
Expiring in more than 2 years 32,437 97,937 5,000 35,000

In addition to the above, the Group has £40m of retained bonds which are available for issue subject to the 
appropriate security being available. The retained bonds expire in 2020.

The floating rate financial liabilities comprise bank loans that bear interest at rates based on the three month LIBOR.

The fixed rate financial liabilities have a weighted average interest rate of 4.63% (2017: 4.55%) and the weighted 
average period for which it is fixed is 20 years (2017: 21 years).

The debt maturity profile is shown in note 19.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities:

  GROUP

Book value Fair value

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Primary financial 
instruments held or issued 
to finance the Group’s 
operations

Current asset trade 
investments

13,678 37,437 13,678 37,437

Current portion of long-term 
borrowings at amortised cost

1,769 2,242 1,817 2,328

Long-term borrowings at fair 
value through Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

121,261 126,217 121,261 126,217

Long-term borrowings at 
amortised cost

441,349 405,582 509,981 493,361

ASSOCIATION

Book value Fair value

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

42,577 34,003 42,577 34,003

1,769 2,242 1,817 2,328

121,261 126,217 121,261 126,217

406,433 389,395 475,065 477,174

The fair value of long-term borrowings includes the mark-to-market position of the embedded interest rate swaps.  
There is no requirement to post collateral against the out of the money mark-to-market positions.  

Chair’s Introduction29. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Notes to the Financial Statements
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